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CHAIRMAN’S REVIEW

Highlights

	 •	 Net income of $60.62 million (2009: $95.54m)

	 •	 Operating cash flows of $29.40 million (2009: $42.54m)

	 •	 Operating EBITDA of $24.09 million (2009: $40.25m)

	 •	 Pre-tax profit of $6.30 million (2009: loss of $580.46m)

	 •	 Net profit after tax of $4.70 million (2009: loss of $573.18m) 
 

Assets under management and fund flows

	 •	 Assets Under Management (AUM) of $5.54 billion 
	 	 (2009: $6.16 billion)

	 •	 Funds Under Management (FUM) of $5.51 billion 
	 	 (2009: $5.62 billion)

	 •    Lighthouse Partners AUM up 11% with positive net inflows 

Welcome to the HFA Holdings Limited (“HFA”) annual report for 
the 2010 financial year. It is with great satisfaction that I can 
report a number of strong positives from the performance of your 
company over the last 12 months. In my two previous reports to 
shareholders in 2008 and 2009 I detailed how HFA was impacted 
by and was responding to the fallout from the global financial crisis 
(GFC). These were difficult and extremely challenging times for the 
Board, management and staff of HFA, as they were for the funds 
management industry globally. I am pleased to report that while 
some challenges remain, we have seen over the last 12 months a 
stabilising of our business and importantly a material reduction in the 
adverse external pressures which affect our ability to create value for 
shareholders.

REVIEW OF RESULTS

In the 12 months to 30 June 2010, HFA delivered a solid financial 
performance, with positive net earnings for the financial year. 
Highlights for the year include EBITDA of $24.09 million and operating 
cash flow of $29.40 million. HFA’s pre-tax earnings were $6.3 million 
for the year to 30 June 2010, with a net profit after tax of $4.70 
million compared to a net loss in 2009 of $573.18 million. The 2009 
financial results were severely impacted by non cash impairments and 
write-downs of $599.53 million primarily related to the acquisition of 
Lighthouse in 2008. 

Total Funds Under Management (FUM) fell less than 2% to $5.51 
billion for the year demonstrating a stabilisation of the group’s 
FUM coming out of the GFC.  Reflecting a general deleveraging of 
investment products globally, HFA’s Australian business reduced its 
own product leverage, resulting in Assets Under Management (AUM) 
of $5.54 billion.

The Lighthouse business continued the strong recovery from the 
first half into the second half with an 11% increase in AUM for the 
year and positive fund flows for 10 of the 12 months.  Lighthouse 
contributed 78% of the Group’s total net income of $60.62 million 
and 89% of Operating EBITDA of $24.09 million for the full year.

These results are indicative of the confidence the Board and 
management have in the business and that we have dealt with the 
worst ramifications of the GFC and emerged as a leader in the global 
alternate investment industry through Lighthouse’s managed 
accounts program.

Spencer Young
Chairman
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LIGHTHOUSE PARTNERS

HFA’s strong financial results were underpinned by an excellent 
contribution and performance by our wholly-owned US-based 
Lighthouse Partners business. Under the first-rate guidance of 
President Sean McGould and his team, the Lighthouse business has 
emerged from the GFC as a strong, stable business with tremendous 
potential to grow well into the future.

Lighthouse’s current success is built not just on its industry leading 
investment performance but also on the precipitous decision in 
2005 to migrate fund portfolio positions away from investments 
in underlying hedge funds to direct investments via a proprietary 
managed accounts program. When the GFC struck in 2007 hedge fund 
investors immediately began demanding greater transparency, security 
of investment assets and enhanced liquidity from their managers and 
the progress Lighthouse had already made in migrating to managed 
accounts, albeit still work in progress, positioned them well to be a 
global leader in meeting investors’ expectations.

As one of the largest fund of managed accounts providers in hedge 
fund products globally, Lighthouse’s managed accounts program has 
been well received by its existing and new clients, with 70% of all 
inflows received during FY10 going to Lighthouse products which have 
100% of their assets invested via the managed accounts program.

The Lighthouse business will continue to focus on the development 
and distribution of its managed accounts program, in particular 
focussing on broadening distribution not only geographically, but also 
deeper into the larger institutional investor space.

CERTITUDE GLOBAL INVESTMENTS

Our Australian business continued to feel the pressure from the 
structural upheaval of the Australian retail fund management market 
during FY10. However, we are beginning to see evidence of a 
stabilisation in the local market and have recently re-positioned the 
business to maximise opportunities as the investment environment 
returns to more historically normal levels.

From August 1, 2010, our Australian business, previously called HFA 
Asset Management, became known as Certitude Global Investments. 
Changing the name of the business is just one element of our strategy 
to re-position the business to ensure its long term sustainability and 
maximise opportunities for growth.

Underpinning the name change is a new strategic direction focussing 
on moving to an open architecture model of investment management 
services. Previously the business had been focussed on a single multi-
manager strategy with distribution primarily to retail investors through 
Independent Financial Advisers (IFAs).

Under its revised strategy the business will now focus on offering a 
broader range of products, to a more diverse range of investors, with 
a focus on providing simple and transparent access to some of the 
world’s leading active investment managers.  In the process Certitude 
will retain its market leading expertise in absolute returns and multi-
manager products and envisages a pivotal ongoing role for products 
sourced from Lighthouse with their managed accounts program 
capabilities and benefits. The successful implementation of the new 
business strategy under the Certitude brand, including the introduction 

HFA HOLDINGS IS A DIVERSIFIED GLOBAL FUND MANAGER

Global 
Partnerships

Multi-Manager 
Products

Structured 
Products

Managed 
Account Program

Marshall Wace 
GavKal 

Other TBA

HFA 
Branded

Investment 
Funds

HFA Octane 
Branded

Customised 
Client Solutions

CHAIRMAN’S REVIEW
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Certitude Global

•	 Multi-capability Platform including Fund of 
Managed Accounts and 
single strategies

•	 Diversified client base

•	 Position as ‘Alpha’ solutions provider

•	 Growth business model with sustainable 
margins for the long-term

•	 A differentiation strategy implemented 
by matching high quality product with 
sustainable margin to a diversified 
client base

HFA Asset Management

•	 Multi Manager Fund of Hedge Fund 	 	
(FoHF) provider built on strong 
distribution network

•	 Largely retail client base

•	 Positioned as the ‘Leader in Absolute Returns’

•	 Business model not suited to post-GFC 	 	
financial and product climate 

•	 Long term success requires increased 	 	
diversification and improved investor 	 	
engagement & product understanding

I would like to take this opportunity to thank my fellow Board 
members, the senior management and staff of HFA, Lighthouse 
and Certitude, for their continued efforts not just in sustaining 
HFA throughout the GFC but more importantly to entrench it as a 
company that is well positioned to deliver long term value for both our 
shareholders and our product investors.

Kind Regards

Spencer Young 
Chairman

of high quality single manager products that are liquid, transparent 
and simple, will lay the foundations for renewed AUM growth and 
profitability over the medium-term.

The changes at Certitude are being driven by experienced financial 
services executive Craig Mowll as the newly appointed Chief  
Executive Officer of the Australian business.

OUTLOOK

The operating and financial performance of HFA over the last 12 
months allows us to now look forward and plan with more clarity than 
at any time since the onset of the GFC. Our US business is pushing 
ahead strongly and our Australian business is building the necessary 
foundations to provide lasting returns. The GFC has changed the global 
funds management landscape, with all investors requiring enhanced 
transparency, liquidity and security of assets in their investments.  
Both the Lighthouse and the Certitude businesses have faced these 
challenges and re-focussed their strategies on meeting these demands 
through their product offerings and services.  In addition, both 
businesses are actively pursuing a diversification of their traditional 
distribution channels.

NEW OPEN ARCHITECTURE FOR AUSTRALIAN BUSINESS

Migration 
To Open  

Architecture 
Model

CHAIRMAN’S REVIEW

asset management
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The directors present their report together with the financial report of HFA Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) 

for the financial year ended 30 June 2010 and the auditor’s report thereon. 

1. DIRECTORS  
The directors of HFA Holdings Limited (the “Company”/ “HFA”) at any time during or since the end of the financial year are:

Mr Spencer Young 
B.Eng. MBA

Chairman, Executive Director and 
Chief Executive Officer

Spencer founded HFA in 1998.  He 
has over 19 years of alternate asset 
class investment experience and 
close relationships with a network of 
international hedge funds and domestic 
research and rating agencies.

Spencer holds a B.Eng (U.Qld) and an 
MBA from Harvard.  He has held several 
senior investment positions including 
executive director of Rothschild 
Australia Private Equity and Lend Lease 
Corporation’s senior executive in the 
USA for venture capital and private 
equity investments.  An experienced 
company director, his recent 
directorships have included Tremblant 
Capital, a significant New York based 
hedge fund. 

Appointed Executive Director 15 
May 2003.

Appointed Non-Executive Director 13 
April 2007 to 18 September 2007.

Appointed Chief Executive Officer and 
Executive Director 18 September 2007.

Name, qualifications and 
independence status

Mr Sean McGould
BSc. Accounting

Executive Director 

 
Sean is the co-founder of Lighthouse 
Investment Partners, LLC (Lighthouse) 
and serves as President and Co-Chief 
Investment Officer.  He supports the 
investment team in the manager search, 
selection and review process and is 
the Chairperson of the Investment 
Committee. Sean has been overseeing 
all aspects of the portfolios since 
August 1996. 

Sean joined Asset Management 
Advisors (“AMA”), a multi-family 
office as Chief Investment Officer in 
August 1996. Lighthouse was formally 
spun out of AMA in 1999. For the 
past 16 years, Sean has been investing 
in various alternative investment 
strategies. Prior to founding Lighthouse, 
Sean was the director of the Outside 
Trader Investment Program at Trout 
Trading Management Company and 
was responsible for the allocation of 
the fund's assets to external alternative 
asset strategies.  

Prior to Trout, Sean worked for 
PriceWaterhouse.  

Appointed 3 January 2008.

 

Experience, special 
responsibilities and other 
directorships
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Mr John Larum
B. Com MEc GAICD

Independent Non-Executive Director

 
John has extensive experience in the 
financial services industry having held 
a range of senior positions including, 
President of China Business for UBS 
Global Asset Management, Chief 
Executive Officer of UBS Global Asset 
Management (Australia), and Chief 
Economist for UBS Warburg (Australia).  
Prior to joining UBS, he spent more 
than a decade with the Federal Treasury 
in Canberra, where he rose to the 
position of Assistant Secretary, Domestic 
Economy Branch, Economic Division. 
John holds a Bachelor of Commerce 
(Econometrics) from the University of 
New South Wales and a Master of 
Economics from the Australian National 
University.

Chairperson of the Remuneration 
Committee and Member of the Audit 
Committee.

Appointed 12 December 2008.

 

Mr Michael Shepherd 

Independent Non-Executive Director

 
Michael has extensive experience in 
financial markets and the financial 
services industry having held a 
range of senior positions including 
Vice Chairman of ASX Limited, and 
directorships of several of ASX’s 
subsidiaries including Australian 
Clearing House Pty Ltd.  He was also 
National President of the Financial 
Services Institute of Australasia.

Currently Michael is a director of ASX 
Market Supervision Pty Ltd, Chairman 
of the Shepherd Centre and is an 
independent Compliance Committee 
Member for UBS Global Asset 
Management (Australia) Limited.

Member of the Remuneration 
Committee and Member of the Audit 
Committee.

Appointed 16 December 2009.

Mr F P (Andy) Esteban
B.Bus ASA MAICD METI

Independent Non-Executive Director

 
Andy holds a Bachelor of Business 
majoring in Accounting. He is an 
Associate of the Australian Society of 
CPA’s and a member of the Australian 
Institute of Company Directors. He has 
31 years experience in the financial 
services industry, of which 21 years 
were with Perpetual Trustees Australia 
Limited.

In 1999 he established FP Esteban 
and Associates, a private business 
specialising in implementing and 
monitoring risk management and 
compliance frameworks in the financial 
services industry. He has provided 
compliance consulting services to a 
number of organisations including 
UBS Global Asset Management for 
their funds management operations 
in Australia, and South East Asia 
operations located in Hong Kong, 
Singapore, Taiwan and China.  From 
July 2005 until June 2008 he was an 
independent director of Credit Suisse 
Asset Management (Australia) Ltd.  
He is currently the Chairman of 
Certitude Global Investments Limited, 
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the 
Company.

Chairperson of the Audit Committee 
and Member of the Remuneration 
Committee.

Appointed 18 June 2008.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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2. COMPANY SECRETARIES
Ms Joanne Hill BA LLB was appointed to the position of joint company 
secretary on 20 November 2008.  Joanne is a qualified solicitor.  
Joanne has over ten years experience in the financial services sector 
and prior to joining HFA in 2007 held senior legal advisory positions in 
both Australian Securities Exchange (ASX) and New Zealand Exchange 
(NZX) listed financial services companies.  Joanne has been sole 
company secretary since 1 June 2010.

Mr Robert White BBus was appointed to the position of joint company 
secretary on 15 February 2007. Robert has over 15 years experience 
in the financial services industry working within both the institutional 
and retail market segments in the UK, Europe and Australia.  Robert 
resigned as company secretary on 1 June 2010.

3. DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS
The relevant interest of each director in the ordinary share capital of 
the Company at the date of this report is as follows:

		  Number of ordinary shares

	 Mr Spencer Young1	 22,516,951

	 Mr Sean McGould2	 77,752,335

	 Mr F P (Andy) Esteban	 8,354

	 Mr John Larum	 36,400

	 Mr Michael Shepherd3	 100,000

 1. Shares are held indirectly by Spencer Young as Trustee for the Spencer Young Family Trust. 
2. 77,744,335 shares held indirectly by SGM Holdings, LLC. 

3. Shares are held indirectly by Tidala Pty Ltd as Trustee for the Shepherd Provident Fund. 

 

4. DIRECTORS’ MEETINGS
The number of directors’ meetings (including meetings of committees 
of directors) and number of meetings attended by each of the directors 
of the Company during the financial year are:

 
	 Director	 A	 B	 A	 B	 A	 B

	 Mr Spencer Young	 11	 11	 -	 -	 -	 -

	 Mr Sean McGould	 10	 11	 -	 -	 -	 -

	 Mr F P (Andy) Esteban	 11	 11	 1	 1	 3	 3

	 Mr John Larum	 10	 11	 1	 1	 2	 3

	 Mr Michael Shepherd	 8	 8	 -	 -	 2	 2

 A – Number of meetings attended. 
B – Number of meetings held during the time the director held office and was eligible to attend 

during the year.

Audit 
committee 
meetings

Remuneration 
committee 
meetings

Board 
meetings

During the financial year ending 30 June 2010, the board had 
responsibility for the performance of the functions of the 
nomination committee and no separate nomination committee 
meetings were held.

5. CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
This statement outlines the main corporate governance practices 
in place throughout the financial year, which comply with the ASX 
Governance Council recommendations, unless otherwise stated.

The Company’s policies, charters and codes in relation to corporate 
governance are available on the Company’s website.

5.1  BOARD OF DIRECTORS

ROLE OF THE BOARD

The board’s primary role is the protection and enhancement of long-
term shareholder value.

To fulfil this role, the board is responsible for the overall corporate 
governance of the Group, including:

•	 	ensuring the integrity of risk management, internal control, legal 
compliance and management control systems;

•	 	reviewing and approving corporate strategies, budgets, plans and 
policies developed by management and evaluating performance 
of the Group against those strategies and business plans in 
order to: 
-	 monitor the performance of functions delegated to senior  
	 management including the progress of major capital  
	 expenditure, capital management, acquisitions, divestitures  
	 and strategic commitments; and  

-	 assess the suitability of the Group’s overall strategies, 
	 business plans and resource allocation;

•	 ensuring that effective audit, risk management and regulatory 
compliance programs are implemented to protect the Group’s 
assets and shareholder value;

•	 reviewing and approving governance policies;

•	 oversight of corporate governance matters pertaining to board 
management;

•	 appointing and removing the chief executive officer (”CEO”);

•	 ratifying the appointment of the chief financial officer (“CFO”) 
and the company secretary;

•	 evaluating the performance of the CEO and senior management;

•	 reviewing board and executive succession planning;

•	 monitoring financial performance and business results (including 
the audit process) to understand at all times the financial 
position of the Group;

•	 oversight of the Company’s continuous disclosure obligations 
including approving the Group’s statutory accounts and directors’ 
reports and the declaration of any dividends;

•	 reporting to shareholders and other stakeholders;

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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	 Name	 Position	 Independent	 First appointed

	 Mr Spencer Young	 Chairman, CEO and Executive Director	 No 	 May 2003

	 Mr Sean McGould	 Executive Director	 No	 January 2008

	 Mr F P (Andy) Esteban	 Non-Executive Director	 Yes	 June 2008

	 Mr John Larum	 Non-Executive Director	 Yes	 December 2008

	 Mr Michael Shepherd	 Non-Executive Director	 Yes	 December 2009

•	 capital management, including issues, calls on, forfeiture of 
shares, declaration of dividends and share buy backs;

•	 membership and role of board sub-committees;

•	 reviewing the performance of the board and board committees; 
and

•	 implementing a culture of compliance with the highest legal and 
ethical standards and business practices.

The board has delegated to the CEO and, under the CEO’s leadership, 
executive management, the powers and authority necessary to 
implement the strategies approved by the board and to manage the 
day to day business affairs of the Company.  The CEO is required to 
consult the board on matters that are sensitive, extraordinary, of a 
strategic nature or are otherwise outside the CEO’s delegated authority 
limits as specified by the board from time to time.

At the time of their appointment, non-executive directors receive 
a formal letter of appointment which sets out the key terms and 
conditions of their appointment, including expectations of attendance 
and preparation for all board meetings, appointments to other boards, 
the procedures for dealing with conflicts of interest, and the availability 
of independent professional advice. The roles and responsibilities of the 
CEO and CFO are formally outlined.

Details of the board’s charter are located on the Company’s website 
(www.hfaholdings.com.au).

COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD

The composition of the board is determined using the following 
principles:

•	 a minimum of four directors, with a broad range of expertise;

•	 a maximum of nine directors; and

•	 a majority of non-executive directors.

Refer to Table 1 (below)  for a summary of the composition of the 
board as at 19 August 2010.

The board comprised of only four members until the appointment of 
non-executive director Mr Michael Shepherd in December 2009, at 
which point the majority of the board were independent. Following 
the resignation of the previous Chairman on 31 March 2009, the 
roles of Chairman and CEO have been exercised by the same person. 

At that time, the board determined that given the global economic 
circumstances and their potential impact on the Company, Mr Young 
had the appropriate knowledge and experience to best undertake 
the Chairman role. This arrangement will remain under review by the 
board. Accordingly, the Company was not in compliance with ASX 
Corporate Governance Principle 2.1, 2.2 and 2.3 throughout the 
entire financial year. 

DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

An independent director is a director who is not a member of 
management (a non-executive director), is free of any business or 
other relationships that could materially interfere with, or could 
reasonably be perceived to materially interfere with, the exercise of 
their unfettered and independent judgement, and who:

•	 is not a substantial shareholder of the Company, holds less than 
5% of the voting securities of the Company and is not an officer 
of, or otherwise associated, directly or indirectly, with a holder of 
more than 10% of the Company’s voting securities;

•	 has not, within the last three years, been employed in an 
executive capacity by the Company or another group member, or 
been a director after ceasing to hold any such employment;

•	 within the last three years has not been a principal or employee 
of a material professional adviser or a material consultant to the 
Company or another group member;

•	 is not a material supplier or customer of the Company or another 
group member, or an officer of or otherwise associated, directly 
or indirectly, with a material supplier or customer;

•	 has no material contractual relationship with the Company or 
another group member other than as a director of the Company; 
and

•	 is free from any interest and any business or other relationship 
which could, or could reasonably be perceived to, materially 
interfere with the director’s ability to act in the best interest of 
the Company.

TABLE 1. Composition of the board 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

INDEPENDENT PROFESSIONAL ADVICE AND 
ACCESS TO COMPANY INFORMATION

Each director has the right of access to all relevant Company 
information and to the Company’s executives and, subject to prior 
consultation with the Chairman, may seek independent professional 
advice from a suitably qualified adviser at the Group’s expense.  The 
director must consult with an advisor suitably qualified in the relevant 
field, and obtain the Chairman’s approval of the fee payable for the 
advice before proceeding with the consultation. A copy of the advice 
received by the director is to be made available to all other members 
of the board.

DIRECTOR AND EXECUTIVE EDUCATION

The Group educates new directors about the nature of the business, 
current issues, the corporate strategy and the expectations of the 
Group concerning performance of directors.  Directors are encouraged 
to interact with management to gain a better understanding of 
business operations, and are encouraged to undertake continuing 
education in relation to the Group and the industry in which it 
operates to update and enhance their skills and knowledge.

BOARD PROCESSES

To assist in the execution of its responsibilities, the board has provided 
for the establishment of a number of board committees including 
a nomination committee, a remuneration committee, and an audit 
committee. These committees have written charters outlining the duties 
and responsibilities of the committee, which are reviewed on a regular 
basis. The board has also established a framework for management 
of the Group including a system of internal control, a business risk 
management process and the establishment of appropriate ethical 
standards and codes of conduct.

The framework includes:

•	 internal controls (for example: dual signatories, reconciliations, 
and segregation of duties);

•	 business risk management process (risk register, compliance plans 
for the operation of managed investment schemes, staff trading 
policies, and employee manual); and

•	 ethical standards and codes of conduct (director code of conduct, 
employee code of conduct, and employee manual).

The board meets approximately every two months, with additional 
meetings held as required to address specific issues.  The agenda 
for meetings is prepared in conjunction with the CEO, CFO and 
company secretary to ensure adequate coverage of strategic, financial, 
governance and compliance matters. Submissions are circulated in 
advance of the meetings. Senior executives are invited to attend board 
meetings and are available for contact by non-executive directors 
between meetings.  The directors may have closed sessions without 
any executive involvement during meetings at their discretion.

5.2  NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The nomination committee charter requires that the nomination 
committee be comprised of three non-executive directors, the majority 
of which must be independent.

The nomination committee is to advise the board on matters 
relating to the composition and performance of the board. Board 
candidates must stand for election at the next general meeting of 
shareholders. The nomination committee is also responsible for making 
recommendations regarding the appointment and removal of directors, 
having regard to an appropriate mix of skill sets and expertise.  The 
nomination committee also reviews performance of the board, 
committees and key executives, reviews board succession plans, as well 
as overseeing the induction process for new directors and committee 
members.

The nomination committee’s nomination of existing directors for 
re-appointment is not automatic and is contingent on their past 
performance, contribution to the Company and the current and future 
requirements of the board.  The nomination committee submits 
recommendations to the board, which then votes on them.  

The Company does not currently comply with ASX Corporate 
Governance Principle 2.4 and the functions of the nomination 
committee are being undertaken by the board which the Company 
considers appropriate at this time given the small size of the board.  
The board undertakes on-going self-assessment and is currently 
reassessing its process for a formal performance evaluation. 

Under its charter, the nomination committee meets bi-annually unless 
otherwise required.  As the functions of the nomination committee 
were undertaken by the board for the year ended 30 June 2010, 
separate meetings of the committee were not held.

Further details of the nomination committee’s charter and policies, 
including those for appointing directors and senior executives, are 
available on the Company’s website.

5.3  REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The remuneration committee’s duties and responsibilities are outlined 
in the remuneration committee charter. The remuneration committee 
charter requires that the remuneration committee be comprised 
of three non-executive directors, the majority of which must be 
independent.

The remuneration committee reviews and makes recommendations to 
the board on remuneration packages and policies applicable to the 
executive officers and directors of the Company.

It is also responsible for reviewing and making recommendations 
in relation to share schemes, incentive performance packages, 
superannuation entitlements, retirement and termination entitlements, 
fringe benefits policies and professional indemnity and liability 
insurance policies.

The members of the remuneration committee during the year were:

•	 Mr F P (Andy) Esteban - Independent non-executive director

•	 Mr John Larum - Independent non-executive director

•	 Mr Michael Shepherd - Independent non-executive director 
(appointed 16 December 2009).

The remuneration committee comprised of only two members until 
the appointment of non-executive director Mr Michael Shepherd in 
December 2009. Accordingly, the Company was not in compliance 
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with ASX Corporate Governance Principle 8.1 throughout the entire 
financial year.

The CEO is invited to remuneration committee meetings as required, 
to discuss senior executives’ performance and remuneration packages 
but does not attend meetings involving matters pertaining to himself 
as CEO.

The remuneration committee meets bi-annually or as often as 
necessary to enable it to effectively discharge its responsibilities. 
The frequency of meetings and the attendance record of committee 
members are disclosed in the directors’ report.  

A summary of the remuneration committee’s charter is available on the 
Company’s website.

REMUNERATION POLICIES

Compensation levels for key management personnel and secretaries of 
the Company and relevant key management personnel of the Group 
are competitively set to attract and retain appropriately qualified 
and experienced individuals. External remuneration benchmarks and 
surveys are considered when setting compensation levels.

Compensation structures are designed to reward the achievement of 
strategic objectives and achieve the broader outcome of creation of 
value for shareholders. The compensation structures take into account:

•	 the capability and experience of key management personnel;

•	 key management personnel’s ability to control relevant 
performance;

•	 the Group’s performance; and

•	 the amount of incentives within each key management person’s 

compensation.

Compensation packages include a mix of fixed compensation plus 
performance linked compensation which includes a short term 
incentive (STI) and may include a long term incentive (LTI). Details of 
fixed compensation, STI and LTI arrangements are discussed in the 
remuneration report in the directors’ report.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR REMUNERATION

Non-executive directors receive director fees.  The aggregate of 
non-executive director fees is capped at a maximum of $750,000 per 
annum, as approved by shareholders at the annual general meeting 
held on 14 December 2007.  Non-executive directors are not entitled 
to participate in executive remuneration schemes, may not receive 
options or bonus payments, and are not provided with retirement 
benefits other than statutory superannuation entitlements.

Executive and non-executive directors may be reimbursed for their 
reasonable expenses properly incurred as directors.

Details of the remuneration of non-executive directors and key 
personnel are included in the remuneration report in the directors’ 
report.  

5.4  AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee has a documented charter approved by the board. 

The committee members comprise a minimum of three non-executive 
directors, with a majority being independent. The Chairman may not be 
the Chairman of the board.

The members of the audit committee during the year were:

•	 Mr F P (Andy) Esteban - Independent non-executive director

•	 Mr John Larum - Independent non-executive director

•	 Mr Michael Shepherd - Independent non-executive director 
	 (appointed 16 December 2009).

The audit committee comprised of only two members until the 
appointment of non-executive director Mr Michael Shepherd in 
December 2009. Accordingly, the Company was not in compliance 
with ASX Corporate Governance Principle 4.2 throughout the entire 
financial year.

At the discretion of the audit committee, the external auditor and 
other members of the board and management will be invited to 
audit committee meetings.

The CEO and the CFO declare in writing to the board on an annual 
basis that the financial records of the Company for the financial year 
have been properly maintained and that the Company’s financial 
reports for the financial year comply with accounting standards and 
present a true and fair view of the Group’s financial condition and 
operational results. 

The frequency of meetings and the attendance record of committee 
members, along with a summary of director qualifications are disclosed 
in the directors’ report.  

A summary of the audit committee’s charter is available on the 
Company’s website along with information on procedures for the 
selection and appointment of the external auditor, and for the rotation 
of external audit engagement partners.

The role of the audit committee is to assist the board in discharging 
its oversight responsibilities in relation to audit and financial reporting 
matters. Responsibilities include:

•	 overseeing the financial reporting process to ensure the balance, 
transparency and integrity of published financial reports, 
including; 
-	 reviewing the half year and annual financial reports and  
	 other financial information distributed externally. This 	  
	 includes approving new accounting policies to ensure  
	 compliance with Australian Accounting Standards (AASBs),  
	 and assessing whether the financial information is  
	 consistent with committee members’ information and  
	 adequate for shareholders’ needs; 
-	 assessing management’s procedures surrounding the 	  
	 financial reporting process; 
-	 considering the results of the audit, including  
	 recommendations submitted by the external auditor and  
	 management’s responses; and  
-	 making recommendations to the board regarding same;

•	 reviewing the effectiveness of internal controls relevant to the 
financial reporting function;
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•	 reviewing the independence of the external auditors and audit 
process, including: 
-	 making recommendations regarding the appointment /  
	 removal of the external auditor and rotation of the external  
	 audit partner; 
-	 assessing the performance of the external auditor; and 
-	 reviewing non-audit services provided by the external  
	 auditor and compliance with the Company’s External  
	 Auditor Policy;

•	 reviewing the Company’s process for monitoring compliance with 
laws and regulations affecting financial reporting; and 

•	 considering and reporting to the board on any such other matters 
as the board may refer to the committee from time to time.

The audit committee reviews the performance of the external auditors 
on an annual basis and normally meets with them during the year to:

•	 discuss the audit plans, identify any significant changes in 
structure, operations, internal controls or accounting policies 
likely to impact the financial statements and to review the fees 
proposed for the audit work to be performed;

•	 review the half-year and preliminary final report prior to 
lodgement with the ASX, and any significant adjustments 
required as a result of the auditor’s findings, and to recommend 
board approval of these documents prior to announcement of 
results;

•	 review the draft annual and half-year financial reports, and 
recommend board approval of the financial report; and

•	 review the results and findings of the auditor, the adequacy 
of accounting and financial controls, and to monitor the 
implementation of any recommendations.

EXTERNAL AUDITORS

The Company has engaged KPMG as its external auditors.  The external 
auditor must remain independent of the Group at all times and comply 
with APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants pertaining 
to financial independence and business relationships.  In addition, the 
external auditor must not provide non-audit services that could be 
considered to impair the auditor’s independence whether in fact or on 
a perception basis.  

The lead audit engagement partner should be rotated after a period 
of no longer than five years and cannot resume the role until at least 
two years have elapsed.  Mr Robert Jones, the current lead audit 
engagement partner, will rotate off the Company’s audit following 
completion of the current financial year end audit.

An analysis of fees paid to the external auditors, including a break-
down of fees for non-audit services, is provided in note 28 of the 
financial statements. 

5.5  RISK MANAGEMENT

OVERSIGHT OF THE RISK MANAGEMENT SYSTEM

The board oversees the establishment, implementation, and annual 
review of the Company’s risk management system.  Management has 

established and implemented a risk management system for assessing, 
monitoring and managing all risks, including material business risks, 
for the Group.  A summary of these procedures is contained on the 
Company’s website. The CEO and the CFO have provided assurance, in 
writing to the board, that the financial reporting risk management and 
associated compliance and controls have been assessed and found to 
be operating efficiently and effectively. The operational and other risk 
management compliance and controls have also been assessed, found 
to be operating effectively and the same reported by management to 
the board. All risk assessments cover the entire financial year and the 
period up to the signing of the annual financial report for all material 
operations in the Group.

RISK PROFILE

The Group’s risk management policies and procedures are aimed at 
ensuring risks are identified, assessed and appropriately managed. The 
board reviews the status of the Group’s risk profile at least annually.  
Risk reporting includes the status of risks through integrated risk 
management programs aimed at ensuring risks are identified, 
assessed and appropriately managed.

Each business unit is responsible and accountable for implementing 
and managing the standards required.

Material business risks for the Company may arise from such matters 
as product investment performance, interest rate and exchange rate 
movements, actions by competitors, counterparty risk, systems risk, 
government policy changes, financial reporting, and the purchase, 
development and application of information technology systems.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND COMPLIANCE AND CONTROLS

The Group strives to ensure that its investment products are of the 
highest standard. The board is responsible for the overall internal 
control framework, but recognises that no cost-effective internal 
control system will preclude all errors and irregularities.  The board’s 
policy on internal control comprises the Company’s internal compliance 
and control systems, including:

•	 Operating unit controls – Operating units confirm compliance 
with financial controls and procedures including information 
systems controls.

•	 Functional speciality reporting – Key areas subject to regular 
reporting to the board include finance, operations, regulatory and 
compliance.

•	 Investment appraisal – Guidelines for capital expenditure include 
annual budgets, detailed appraisal and review procedures, levels 
of authority, and due diligence requirements where businesses 
are being acquired or divested.

Comprehensive practices have been established to ensure:

•	 compliance with financial services regulation;

•	 financial exposures are controlled, including the use of 
derivatives.  Further details of the Company’s policies relating to 
interest rate management, foreign exchange rate management 
and credit risk management are included in notes 5 and 25 of 
the financial statements;

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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•	 business transactions are properly authorised and executed;

•	 the quality and integrity of personnel (see below);

•	 financial reporting accuracy and compliance with the financial 
reporting regulatory framework (see below); and

•	 environmental regulation compliance (see below).

Given the size and nature of the Group, the board does not consider 
it necessary to establish an internal audit function.  The Group has 
a number of alternative policies in place in relation to independent 
oversight of compliance with financial services legislation, such 
as dedicated compliance resources in each business unit and the 
establishment of an external compliance committee for each registered 
scheme operated under an Australian Financial Services Licence.

QUALITY AND INTEGRITY OF PERSONNEL

Written confirmation of compliance with policies is obtained from 
all business units. Performance appraisals are conducted at least 
annually for all employees. Training and development and appropriate 
remuneration and incentives with regular performance reviews 
create an environment of cooperation and constructive dialogue with 
employees and senior management. 

FINANCIAL REPORTING

The CEO and the CFO have provided assurance in writing to the 
board that the Company’s financial reports are founded on a sound 
system of risk management and internal compliance and control which 
implements the policies adopted by the board.

Monthly actual results are reported against budgets approved by the 
directors, and revised forecasts for the year are prepared regularly.

ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATION	

The Group’s operations are not subject to any significant environmental 
regulation under either Australian or United States legislation. 
However, the board believes that the Group has adequate systems in 
place for the management of its environmental requirements and is 
not aware of any breach of those environmental requirements as they 
apply to the Group.

5.6  ETHICAL STANDARDS

All directors, managers and employees are expected to act with 
the utmost integrity and objectivity, striving at all times to enhance 
the reputation and performance of the Group. Every employee has 
a nominated supervisor to whom they may refer any issues arising 
from their employment.  Processes are in place to promote and 
communicate these standards of ethical behaviour. 

CONFLICT OF INTEREST

Directors must keep the board advised, on an ongoing basis, of any 
interest that could potentially conflict with those of the Company.  
The board has developed procedures to assist directors to disclose 
potential conflicts of interest.

Where the board believes that a significant conflict exists for a director 
on a board matter, the director concerned may only be present when 
the item is being considered at the board’s discretion.  Details of 

director related entity transactions with the Group are set out in note 
29 to the financial statements.

CODE OF CONDUCT

The Group has advised each director, manager and employee that they 
must comply with the Code of Conduct and Employee Manual.  The 
Code of Conduct and Employee Manual covers the following:

•	 aligning the behaviour of the board and management with the 
Code of Conduct by maintaining appropriate core Company 
values and objectives;

•	 fulfilling responsibilities to shareholders by delivering 
shareholder value;

•	 usefulness of financial information by maintaining appropriate 
accounting policies, practices and disclosure;

•	 fulfilling responsibilities to clients, customers and consumers by 
maintaining high standards of service, and safety; 

•	 employment practices such as occupational health and safety, 
equal employment opportunity, training and educational support, 
community activities, sponsorships and donations;

•	 responsibilities to the individual, such as privacy, use of privileged 
or confidential information, and conflict resolution;

•	 compliance with legislation;

•	 managing actual or potential conflicts of interest;

•	 corporate opportunities such as preventing directors and key 
executives from taking advantage of property, information or 
position for personal gain;

•	 confidentiality of corporate information;

•	 fair dealing;

•	 protection and proper use of the Company’s assets; and

•	 reporting of unlawful or unethical behaviour and breaches of the 
Code of Conduct.

A summary of the Code of Conduct is included on the Company’s 
website. 

TRADING IN GENERAL COMPANY SECURITIES BY 
DIRECTORS AND EMPLOYEES

The key elements of the Trading Policy are:

•	 identification of the designated officers to whom the policy 
applies, which includes all directors and all staff; 

•	 prohibition of designated officers from trading in Company 
securities: 
–	 except during the four week period commencing the first  
	 business day after the announcement of half-yearly and  
	 annual results to the ASX, or the Annual General Meeting;  
–	 except during periods outside the above mentioned trading  
	 window, where approval has been granted by the board or  
	 the board’s delegate; and 
–	 whilst in possession of price sensitive information not yet 	
	 released to the market.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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•	 raising the awareness of legal prohibitions including transactions 
with colleagues and external advisers;

•	 requiring details to be provided of intended trading in the 
Company’s shares;

•	 requiring details to be provided of the subsequent confirmation 
of the trade; 

•	 identification of processes for unusual circumstances where 
discretions may be exercised in cases such as financial hardship;

•	 a prohibition on entry into transactions or arrangements designed 
to limit the economic risk of security holdings in the Company 
over unvested entitlements.

The policy also details the insider trading provisions of the 
Corporations Act 2001 and is summarised on the Company’s website.

5.7 COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The board provides shareholders and the broader public with 
information in accordance with its Continuous Disclosure Policy and 
its Shareholder Communication Policy. A summary of each policy is 
contained on the Company’s website. 

CONTINUOUS DISCLOSURE

The Continuous Disclosure Policy outlines how the Company identifies 
matters that may have a material effect on the price of the Company’s 
securities, notifying them to the ASX, posting them on the Company’s 
website and issuing media releases.

The CEO is responsible for ensuring HFA complies with continuous 
disclosure requirements, whilst the company secretary oversees and 
monitors disclosure of information to the ASX, analysts, brokers, 
shareholders, investors, the media and the public.

Any matters requiring disclosure are advised to the ASX on the 
day they are discovered, and all staff must follow the Continuous 
Disclosure Process, which involves monitoring all areas of the Group’s 
internal and external environment.

SHAREHOLDER COMMUNICATION

The Company shareholder communication platform consists of:

•	 the Company’s Continuous Disclosure Policy which is designed 
to facilitate compliance with continuous disclosure obligations 
imposed under the Corporations Act 2001 and ASX Listing Rules;

•	 the Company’s website which contains relevant information 
about the Company’s activities and corporate governance 
framework;

•	 participation by shareholders at the Company’s general meetings, 
to ensure a high level of accountability and identification with 
the Group’s strategy and goals;

•	 attendance by the Company’s auditor at the Company’s Annual 
General Meeting to answer shareholder queries regarding the 
conduct of the audit and the preparation and content of the 
auditor’s report; and

•	 the use of electronic technology where appropriate to facilitate 
greater effectiveness of corporate communication.

Information is made available on the Company’s website within one 
day of public release.  Important issues are presented to shareholders 
at general meetings as single resolutions.  In particular, shareholders 
are requested to vote on the election and re-election of directors, the 
aggregate remuneration of non-executive directors, the granting of 
options and shares to directors, the remuneration report and changes 
to the Constitution.

A copy of the Constitution is available to any shareholder upon 
request.

5.8  REMUNERATION REPORT - AUDITED

The directors of the Company present the remuneration report 
prepared in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 
2001 for the Group for the year ended 30 June 2010.

The Company’s remuneration strategy is designed to attract, retain 
and motivate appropriately qualified and experienced directors and 
senior executives.  Details of the Company’s remuneration strategy for 
the 2010 financial year are set out in this remuneration report.  The 
remuneration report forms part of the directors’ report.

5.8.1  PRINCIPLES OF COMPENSATION

Remuneration is referred to as compensation throughout this report.

Key management personnel have authority and responsibility for 
planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Company and 
the Group, including directors of the Company and other executives.  
Key management personnel comprise the directors of the Company 
and executives for the Company and the Group including the five most 
highly remunerated Company and Group executives.

Compensation levels for key management personnel and secretaries of 
the Company and relevant key management personnel of the Group 
are competitively set to attract and retain appropriately qualified 
and experienced individuals. External remuneration benchmarks and 
surveys are considered when setting compensation levels.

Compensation structures are designed to reward the achievement of 
strategic objectives and achieve the broader outcome of creation of 
value for shareholders. The compensation structures take into account:

•	 the capability and experience of the key management personnel;

•	 the key management personnel’s ability to control relevant  
performance;

•	 the Group’s performance; and

•	 the amount of incentives within each key management person’s 
compensation.

Compensation packages include a mix of fixed compensation plus 
performance linked compensation which includes a short term 
incentive (STI) and may include a long term incentive (LTI). The overall 
objective of this remuneration strategy is to support the business 
strategy of the Group by attracting, retaining and rewarding quality 
executive employees and staff, with a view to aligning employee and 
shareholder goals. 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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FIXED COMPENSATION 

Fixed compensation consists of base compensation (which is calculated 
on a total cost basis and includes any FBT charges related to employee 
benefits including motor vehicles), as well as employer contributions 
to superannuation funds and retirement plans. Key executive 
compensation levels are reviewed annually by the remuneration 
committee through a process that considers individual and overall 
performance of the Group. A senior executive’s compensation is also 
reviewed on promotion.

SHORT TERM INCENTIVES (STI) 

STIs are paid to senior executives and employees in the form of an 
annual bonus, which is usually paid in cash, but may be satisfied by the 
issue of shares.  The aim of the arrangements in place across the Group 
is to recognise the contributions and achievements of individuals.  
Performance measures generally include measures relating to the 
Group and the individual, and include financial, people, client service, 
strategy and risk measures as appropriate. The measures are chosen as 
they directly align the individual’s reward to the success of the Group 
and to its strategy and performance.

Australian distribution staff are eligible for an STI based on a “Sales 
Incentive Scheme”, which determines the cash bonus as a function of 
net funds raised by each individual over a pre-determined minimum 
threshold.  Other Australian staff and executives are entitled to a 
discretionary STI bonus, determined after taking into account their 
achievement of performance measures and the overall performance of 
the business unit.

Employees of Lighthouse Investment Partners, LLC are entitled to 
participate in a STI bonus pool which is determined as up to 20% of 
earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA) 
of Lighthouse Investment Partners, LLC.  Allocation of the STI bonus 
pool is recommended by senior management of Lighthouse based 
on achievement of performance measures.  In December 2009, 
Lighthouse management recommended, and the board approved, the 
grant of 8,547,009 shares to senior Lighthouse executives in addition 
to the cash bonus pool.  The shares were granted for the purpose 
of recognition of staff contribution to the growth of the Lighthouse 
business during the year despite challenging external factors, and to 
provide additional motivation to retain key staff within the business. 
The non-cash expense recognised in relation this grant of shares for 
the year ended 30 June 2010 totalled $2,008,547.

STI bonuses allocated to senior executives are reviewed and approved 
by the remuneration committee.  The remuneration committee 
exercises discretion when approving STI bonuses to senior executives, 
by taking into account qualitative assessments of an individual’s 
performance during the previous year as well as achievement of 
tangible performance indicators. 

LONG TERM INCENTIVES (LTI)

The Company has established LTI plans to assist in the attraction, 
retention and motivation of employees and key management 
personnel.  The plans provide long term incentives for employees and 
management to contribute to the long term profitability and share 
price growth of the Group through a direct growth in the value of their 
shareholdings and future dividend streams.

2008 Employee Performance Rights Plan

An offer of rights to issued shares in the Company was made to 
employees of the HFA Australian business on 12 March 2008 at which 
time the board approved the allocation of 3,955,000 performance 
rights to employees.

No consideration is payable by employees upon the issue of 
performance rights or in respect of the shares to be issued upon 
the exercise of the performance rights.  Vesting conditions must be 
satisfied for the performance rights to be exercised.

Vesting of the performance rights is in tranches of 25%, 35% 
and 40% with respective vesting dates of 31 December 2008, 31 
December 2009 and 31 December 2010.  Vesting conditions include 
being employed by the Group at relevant vesting dates and meeting 
performance hurdles relating to assets under management, base 
revenue (excluding performance fees) and EBITDA. 

The HFA Holdings Limited board retains the ability to permit vesting 
in circumstances where hurdle thresholds are not met but commercial 
circumstances warrant limited or full vesting.

Allocations under the performance rights plan were approved by the 
board based on recommendations from the CEO, with seniority in the 
organisation and potential to contribute to the future success of the 
Group forming the basis of these recommendations.

Tranche 1 of the performance rights plan vested at 31 December 2008, 
with 100% of the shares (901,250 shares) available under the tranche 
for eligible employees being issued at the discretion of the board. 
The non-cash expense recognised in relation to Tranche 1 for the year 
ended 30 June 2009 totalled $218,977.

Tranche 2 of the performance rights plan vested at 31 December 2009, 
with 30% of the shares (299,250 shares) available under the tranche 
for eligible employees being issued due to the satisfaction of the base 
revenue performance hurdle.  The board did not exercise its discretion 
to vest any additional shares under Tranche 2.  The non-cash expense 
recognised in relation to Tranche 2 for the year ended 30 June 2010 
totalled $241,395.

Lighthouse Investment Partners Incentive Compensation Plan 

An incentive plan for employees of Lighthouse Investment Partners, 
LLC was established by SGM Holdings, LLC on 1 July 2008.  SGM 
Holdings, LLC is a related entity of executive director Sean McGould 
and is not part of the HFA Holdings Limited Group.  Grants made 
under the plan are funded by SGM Holdings, LLC not the HFA Holdings 
Limited Group.  However, as SGM Holdings, LLC is a shareholder of 
HFA Holdings Limited, accounting standards require that the Company 
recognise an expense associated with the shares granted under 
the plan with a corresponding increase in the Company’s equity to 
recognise the contribution by SGM Holdings, LLC as a shareholder.

The incentive plan grants participants an opportunity to earn a 
payment of cash or participate in an offering of ordinary shares of 
HFA Holdings Limited.  The vesting of the incentive plan is in three 
equal tranches with vesting dates of 1 January 2009, 1 January 2010 
and 1 January 2011, provided the employee remains employed at 
vesting date.  There are no other vesting conditions or performance 
hurdles.  No consideration is payable by employees in relation to the 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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	 In Thousands of AUD	 2010	 2009	 2008	 2007

	 Net profit / (loss) attributable to equity holders of the parent 	 4,701	 (573,184)	 35,170	 20,279

	 Dividends paid	 -	 16,085	 14,895	 8,274

	 Dividends per share (cents)	 -	 3.5	 6.1	 4.1

	 Change in share price (dollars)	 (0.01)	 (0.98)	 (1.39)	 0.86

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

grant of the shares of HFA Holdings Limited.  SGM Holdings, LLC has 
full discretion in relation to the allocation of entitlements and vesting 
conditions under the plan. 

100% of the shares available under the plan were transferred to 
eligible employees during the year ended 30 June 2009 (9,904,925 
shares). The total non-cash expense recognised by the Group in 
relation to this plan for the year ended 30 June 2009 totalled 
$12,177,025.  No expense in relation to the plan was recognised by 
the Group for the year ended 30 June 2010.

CONSEQUENCES OF PERFORMANCE 
ON SHAREHOLDERS’ WEALTH 

The overall level of key management personnel’s compensation takes 
into account the performance of the Group over a number of years. 
In considering the Group’s performance and benefits for shareholders’ 
wealth, the remuneration committee have regard to these indicators as 
seen in Table 2 (below).

OTHER BENEFITS 

The Group does not currently pay any other benefits, either cash or 
non-cash to directors of the Company or key management personnel 
of the Group.

SERVICE CONTRACTS 

The Group has entered into employment contracts with each executive 
director and member of key management personnel.  The employment 
contract outlines the components of compensation paid but does 
not prescribe how compensation levels are modified year to year.  
Compensation levels are reviewed each year to take into account 
cost-of-living changes, any change in the scope of the role performed 
and any changes required to meet the principles of the compensation 
policy. Individual performance evaluations were undertaken for the 
Company’s senior executives in accordance with the Company’s 
employment policies and individuals’ contractual arrangements. 

Spencer Young, Chief Executive Officer, HFA Holdings Limited. The 
Company is currently finalising a service agreement with Spencer 
Young. Aspects of this service agreement may require shareholder 
approval.

Sean McGould, President, Chief Investment Officer Lighthouse 
Investment Partners entered into a service agreement on 1 January 
2006, and which was amended on 1 November 2009. The agreement 

specifies the duties and obligations to be fulfilled. The amended service 
agreement is for a term of two years commencing from 1 January 2010 
and thereafter shall automatically be extended for one year terms 
unless either the Group or the employee gives not less than sixty days 
notice of its intention not to extend the agreement.

The Group may terminate the service agreement at any time for gross 
negligence or wilful misconduct. The employee may terminate the 
service agreement at any time by giving sixty days notice.    

 The employee may terminate the agreement at any time if the 
Group fails to comply in any material respect with the terms of 
the agreement, there is a material reduction in the compensation 
opportunities, there is a material and unconsented change to 
responsibilities, or the employee involuntarily ceases to be a member 
of the board of directors of HFA Holdings Limited for any reason other 
than cause.  In these circumstances a payment of US Dollars (“USD”) 
1,000,000 multiplied by the number of days since the fiscal year 
ending before termination divided by 365 will be made in lieu of any 
unpaid bonus.

The Group may terminate the agreement for any reason other than 
gross negligence or wilful misconduct at any time by giving not less 
than sixty days notice. In these circumstance also, a payment of USD 
1,000,000 multiplied by the number of days since the fiscal year 
ending before termination divided by 365 will be made in lieu of any 
unpaid bonus.

Scott Perkins, Director of Investor Relations, Lighthouse Investment 
Partners entered into a service agreement on 1 January 2006, and 
which was amended on 1 November 2009. The agreement specifies 
the duties and obligations to be fulfilled. The service agreement is for 
a term of two years commencing from 1 January 2010 and thereafter 
shall automatically be extended for one year terms unless either the 
Group or the employee gives not less than sixty days notice of its 
intention not to extend the agreement.

The Group may terminate the service agreement at any time for gross 
negligence or wilful misconduct. In these circumstances there is no 
entitlement to a termination payment.  

The employee may terminate the agreement at any time if the 
Group fails to comply in any material respect with the terms of 
the agreement, there is a material reduction in the compensation 

TABLE 2. Group’s performance and benefits for shareholders’ wealth
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opportunities or there is a material and unconsented change 
to responsibilities. The employee must give sixty dates notice of 
termination.  In these circumstances a payment of USD 1,000,000 
multiplied by the number of days since the fiscal year ending before 
termination divided by 365 will be made in lieu of any unpaid bonus.

The Group may terminate the agreement for any reason other than 
gross negligence or wilful misconduct at any time by giving not less 
than sixty days notice. In these circumstance also, a payment of USD 
1,000,000 multiplied by the number of days since the fiscal year 
ending before termination divided by 365 will be made in lieu of any 
unpaid bonus.

Kelly Perkins Co-Chief Investment Officer, Lighthouse Investment 
Partners entered into a service agreement on 1 January 2008. The 
agreement specifies the duties and obligations to be fulfilled. The 
service agreement is for a non-fixed term.  

The employee or the Group may terminate the service agreement at 
any time and for any reason or no reason, with or without cause. The 
employee must give sixty days notice of termination. Upon termination 
the employee is entitled to a pro-rata portion of the semi-annual 
compensation. The semi-annual compensation is calculated as 1.25% 
of the gross revenue of Lighthouse Investment Partners, LLC.

Robert Swan, Chief Operating Officer, Lighthouse Investment Partners 
entered into a service agreement on 1 January 2008.  The agreement 
specifies the duties and obligations to be fulfilled.  The service 
agreement is for a non-fixed term.  

The employee or the Group may terminate the service agreement at 
any time and for any reason or no reason, with or without cause. The 
employee must give sixty days notice of termination.  
Upon termination the employee is entitled to a pro-rata portion of 
the semi-annual compensation.  The semi-annual compensation is 
calculated as 1.0% of the gross revenue of Lighthouse Investment 
Partners, LLC.

The following key management personnel are engaged pursuant to 
an executive services agreement:

•	 Amber Stoney, Chief Financial Officer, HFA Holdings Limited

•	 Craig Mowll, Chief Executive Office, Certitude Global Investments 
Limited (“Certitude”) (formerly HFA Asset Management Limited)

•	 Oscar Martinis, Joint Managing Director of Certitude (Resigned 
1 June 2010)

•	 Robert White, Company Secretary of HFA Holdings Limited and 
Joint Managing Director of Certitude (Resigned 1 June 2010)

The agreements specify the duties and obligations to be fulfilled.  

The Group may terminate the agreement at any time, without notice 
for a number of reasons including bankruptcy, gross negligence or 
wilful and serious misconduct.  In these circumstances there is no 
entitlement to termination payment. The employee may terminate 
the agreement at any time by giving 6 months notice and the Group 
may terminate the agreement at any time by the giving of 6 months 
notice or payment in lieu. 

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS 

The aggregate compensation for all non-executive directors, last voted 
upon by shareholders, is not to exceed $750,000 per annum and is 
determined with reference to external benchmarks, surveys and fees 
paid to other non-executive directors of comparable companies. Actual 
compensation for non-executive directors for the financial year ended 
30 June 2010 was $226,831 (2009: $260,893).

Non-executive director’s compensation is $80,000 plus superannuation 
per annum.

Directors’ fees cover all main board activities and membership of any 
committee. Non-executive directors do not receive any performance 
related remuneration.  

Directors are entitled to be paid all travelling and other expenses they 
incur in attending to the Company’s affairs, including general meetings.

Non-executive directors are not entitled to any benefits or payments 
on retirement from office.

DIRECTOR’S AND EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S REMUNERATION 
(COMPANY AND CONSOLIDATED)

Table 3 on pages 17 and 18 details the nature and amount of each 
major element of remuneration of each director of the Company and 
each of the eight named Company and Group executives who receive 
the highest remuneration. 

Insurance premiums in relation to directors and office holders have not 
been included in these disclosures as there is no appropriate basis for 
allocation of premiums paid.
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DIRECTORS

	 Non-Executive

	 Mr F P (Andy) Esteban1	 84,410	 -	 84,410	 7,597	 -	 -	 92,007	 -	 -

	 (appointed 18 June 2008)	 80,000	 -	 80,000	 7,200	 -	 -	 87,200	 -	 -

	 Mr John Larum	 80,000	 -	 80,000	 7,200	 -	 -	 87,200	 -	 -

	 (appointed 12 December 2008)	 42,769	 -	 42,769	 3,849	 -	 -	 46,618	 -	 -

	 Mr Michael Shepherd	 43,692	 -	 43,692	 3,932	 -	 -	 47,624	 -	 -

	 (appointed 16 December 2009)	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -

	 Mr Brett Howard	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -

	 Chairperson	 80,250	 -	 80,250	 7,222	 -	 -	 87,472	 -	 -
	 (resigned 31 March 2009)

	 Mr Robert Fraser	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -

	 (appointed 14 December 2007,	 36,333	 -	 36,333	 3,270	 -	 -	 39,603	 -	 -
	 resigned 24 November 2008)

	

	 Executive

	 Mr Spencer Young	 286,871	 -	 286,871	 14,461	 -	 -	 301,332	 -	 -

	 Chief Executive Officer	 286,871	 -	 286,871	 13,745	 -	 -	 300,616	 -	 -

	 Mr Sean McGould	 283,134	 -	 283,134	 16,988	 -	 -	 300,122	 -	 -

	 (Chief Investment Officer, Lighthouse)	 335,300	 -	 335,300	 20,118	 -	 -	 355,418	 -	 -

TABLE 3. Director’s and executive officer’s remuneration (company and consolidated)

1. In addition to the $80,000 received by Mr F P (Andy) Esteban for his role as non-executive director of HFA Holdings Limited, he received $4,410 for his role as non-executive director of Certitude Global 

Investments Limited (appointed 21 May 2010). 

S300A 
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	 Executives									       

	 Mr Craig Mowll	 50,059	 -	 50,059	 3,615	 -	 -	 53,674	 -	 -

	 Chief Executive Officer,  	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -
	 Certitude (appointed 14 May 2010)	

	 Ms Amber Stoney	 112,822	 20,000	 132,822	 9,673	 -	 19,312	 161,807	 24%	 12%

	 Chief Financial Officer 	 250,000	 90,000	 340,000	 13,745	 -	 22,112	 375,857	 30%	 6%
	 (appointed 26 Sept 20081)	

	 Mr Scott Perkins 	 283,134	 348,620	 631,754	 11,487	 -	 237,821	 881,062	 67%	 27%

	 Director of Investor	 335,300	 843,555	 1,178,855	 32,859	 -	 -	 1,211,714	 70%	 -
	 Relations, Lighthouse

	 Mr Kelly Perkins	 283,134	 421,618	 704,752	 9,488	 -	 311,432	 1,025,672	 71%	 30%

	 Co-Chief Investment	 335,300	 1,054,445	 1,389,745	 34,536		  -	 1,424,281	 74%	 -
	 Officer, Lighthouse

	 Mr Robert Swan	 283,134	 348,620	 631,754	 11,487	 -	 237,821	 881,062	 67%	 27%

	 Chief Operating 	 335,300	 843,555	 1,178,855	 32,859	 -	 -	 1,211,714	 70%	 -
	 Officer, Lighthouse

	 Former 									       

	 Mr Oscar Martinis	 399,253	 -	 399,253	 14,461	 162,500	 43,451	 619,665	 7%	 7%

 	 Joint Managing Director,	 325,000	 165,000	 490,000	 13,745	 -	 49,751	 553,496	 39%	 9%
	 Certitude (resigned 1 June 2010)

	 Mr Robert White 	 360,752	 -	 360,752	 14,461	 162,500	 43,451	 581,164	 7%	 7%

	 Joint Managing Director,	 325,181	 165,000	 490,181	 13,745	 -	 49,751	 553,677	 39%	 9%
	 Certitude (resigned 1 June 2010)

	 Mr Jonathan Pain2	 157,197	 -	 157,197	 5,317	 -	 -	 162,514	 -	 -

	 Chief Investment Strategist,	 395,833	 280,000	 675,833	 13,745	 -	 27,640	 717,218	 43%	 4%
	 Certitude (resigned 18

	 September 20092)

	 Mr Rodney Hughes	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -

	 Chief Financial Officer,	 62,455	 -	 62,455	 3,436	 113,771	 22,112	 201,774	 11%	 11%
	 (appointed 14 January 2007,

	 resigned 26 September 2008)

TABLE 3. Director’s and executive officer’s remuneration (company and consolidated) (continued)

1. Ms Amber Stoney took a leave of absence during the period 15 May 2009 to 12 October 2009. Her duties and responsibilities during that period were shared amongst other employees and members  

    of Key Management Personnel. 

2. Mr Jonathan Pain resigned as an executive officer on 18 September 2009. On 6 April 2010 he resigned his position as a non-executive director of Certitude, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. 
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Mr Oscar Martinis1 112,500

157,500

180,000

12/03/08

12/03/08

12/03/08

0.9950

0.9196

0.8499

31/12/09

31/12/10

31/12/11

2009

2010

2011

112,500

47,250

-

6,750

11,017

-

Nil

110,250

-

Nil

25,707

-

Mr Robert White1 112,500

157,500

180,000

12/03/08

12/03/08

12/03/08

0.9950

0.9196

0.8499

31/12/09

31/12/10

31/12/11

2009

2010

2011

112,500

47,250

-

6,750

11,017

-

Nil

110,250

-

Nil

25,707

-

Mr Jonathan Pain1 62,500

87,500

100,000

12/03/08

12/03/08

12/03/08

0.9950

0.9196

0.8499

31/12/09

31/12/10

31/12/11

2009

2010

2011

62,500

Nil

-

3,750

Nil

-

Nil

87,500

-

Nil

20,402

-

Mr Rodney Hughes1 50,000

70,000

80,000

12/03/08

12/03/08

12/03/08

0.9950

0.9196

0.8499

31/12/09

31/12/10

31/12/11

2009

2010

2011

50,000

Nil

-

3,000

Nil

-

Nil

70,000

-

Nil

16,322

-

Ms Amber Stoney 50,000

70,000

80,000

12/03/08

12/03/08

12/03/08

0.9950

0.9196

0.8499

31/12/09

31/12/10

31/12/11

2009

2010

2011

50,000

21,000

-

3,000

4,897

-

Nil

49,000

-

Nil

11,425

-

1.  In accordance with the plan rules, Mr Jonathan Pain and Mr Rodney Hughes forfeited their rights to Tranche 2 and 3 of the performance plan upon their resignation.  Mr Oscar Martinis and Mr Robert  

     White forfeited their rights to Tranche 3 of the performance plan upon their resignation.

NOTES IN RELATION TO THE TABLE OF DIRECTORS’ 
AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS’ REMUNERATION 

The short-term incentive bonus is for performance during the respective 
financial year using the criteria set out on page 14. 

Short-term incentives for the Lighthouse executives, excluding executive 
directors, are calculated on a semi-annual basis in accordance with their 
service contracts.  This semi-annual bonus forms part of the Lighthouse 
STI bonus pool.

The fair value of the performance rights has been calculated using 
the Black-Scholes option pricing model adjusted for dividends and is 
expensed evenly over the period from grant date to vesting date.  The 
value disclosed is the portion of fair value of the performance rights 
issued as compensation in the current reporting period. 

The fair value of the ordinary shares granted was based on the market 
value of the shares on grant date. 

DETAILS OF PERFORMANCE RELATED REMUNERATION

Details of the Group’s policy in relation to the proportion of 
remuneration that is performance related is discussed on page 14. 

5.8.3  ANALYSIS OF PERFORMANCE RIGHTS GRANTED 
OVER EQUITY INSTRUMENTS GRANTED AS 
COMPENSATION

Details of the performance rights granted as remuneration to each key 
management person of the Group and each of the named Company and 
Group executives are detailed in the table below.

The right to receive shares is conditional on continuing service, and the 
achievement of certain performance hurdles. Details of performance 
criteria are set out on page 14. 

In accordance with the terms of the performance plan, the board 
exercised its discretion to vest 100% of the shares available under 
Tranche 1.

In accordance with the terms of the performance plan and upon the 
satisfaction of the base revenue performance hurdle, 30% of the 
shares available under Tranche 2 vested.  The board did not exercise its 
discretion to vest any further shares under Tranche 2.

No terms of performance rights granted have been altered or modified 
by the issuing entity during the reporting period or prior period. The 
rights were provided at no cost to the participants. 

Total number 
of rights 
granted

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

Executives

Grant 
date

Fair value 
at grant 

date

Expiry 
date

Financial 
year in 

which grant 
vests

Number 
of options 

vested 
during the 
financial 

year

Value of 
vested  

options at 
exercise 

date

Number 
of options 

lapsed 
during the 
financial 

year

Value of 
lapsed 

options at 
exercise 

date

$ $ $
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6.  PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES 
The principal activities of the Group during the course of the financial year were the provision of absolute return fund products to investors 
globally via Lighthouse Investment Partners, LLC and Certitude Global Investments Limited (“Certitude”).

HFA Holdings Limited is a company limited by shares that is incorporated in Australia.  A wholly owned subsidiary, HFA Lighthouse Holdings 
Corp is the parent entity of the US based Lighthouse Group (“Lighthouse”), which through Lighthouse Investment Partners, LLC acts as a global 
absolute return funds manager. Another wholly owned subsidiary, Certitude, acts as the Responsible Entity and Manager of schemes and other 
products in Australia.

Details of the Consolidated Group are included at note 30 to the financial statements.

7.  OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW

CONSOLIDATED RESULTS

In thousands of AUD 2010 2009 

Revenue 72,576 112,855

Investment management costs (11,956)  (17,312)

Operating income 60,620 95,543

Foreign exchange gain/(loss) on operating activities 119    1,214

Operating expenses, net of other income (34,399)    (44,109)

Operating EBITDA 
(before equity settled transactions) 26,340    52,648  

Equity settled transaction expense (2,250)    (12,396)

Operating EBITDA 
(after equity settled transactions) 24,090    40,252

Depreciation and amortisation (11,977)    (14,949)

Impairment losses -    (599,537)

Net interest income / (expenses) (5,808)    (6,230)

Profit/(loss) before income tax 6,305 (580,464)

Income tax benefit / (expense) (1,604) 7,280

Net profit/(loss) after income tax 4,701 (573,184)

Basic EPS (cents) 1.013 (124.641)

The Group recorded a consolidated profit after tax of $4.701 million for the financial year ended 30 June 2010 (2009: consolidated loss after 
tax of $573.184 million).  The Group generated an operating EBITDA of $24.090 million. This is down 40% on the prior year, and reflects both 
lower average Assets Under Management (“AUM”) for 2010 compared to the prior year, as well as the negative impact of the increase in the 
average Australian Dollar exchange rate for the year to 88.30 cents (2009: 74.56 cents).

NET INCOME FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net income from operating activities decreased to $60.620 million for the financial year ended  30 June 2010. This represents a decrease of 
37% from the 2009 financial year. 

Net operating income from the US Lighthouse operations was $47.522 million, down 20% in US dollar currency terms from the 
prior year.  This reflects the fact that whilst Lighthouse had positive AUM growth throughout the 2010 financial year, the average AUM for 
2010 was 10% lower than the prior year.  The average net management fee (after investment management costs) earned on AUM remained 
unchanged compared to the prior year.

The Australian Certitude operations experienced a 48% decrease in net operating income to $13.098 million, mirroring the decrease in the 
average AUM for 2010 compared to the prior year.  The average net management fee (after investment costs) for Certitude remained steady 
when compared to the prior year.
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OPERATING EXPENSES

Operating expenses (excluding depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses) decreased to $34.399 million for the financial year ended 30 
June 2010. This represents a decrease of $9.710 million or 22% when compared to the prior financial year.  This decrease is due to a higher 
average Australian dollar exchange rate for the 2010 financial year and active cost management across the Group.

DEBT AND NET INTEREST EXPENSE

Since 30 June 2009, the Group has reduced its US Dollar (“USD”) denominated debt from USD 113.074 million to USD 102.375 million, and its 
Australian Dollar (“AUD”) denominated debt from AUD 6.899 million to AUD 1.087 million. 

This reduction in debt has resulted in a decrease in net interest expense for the Group for the 2010 financial year.

IMPAIRMENT LOSSES

An impairment loss of $585.621 million in relation to the goodwill recognised on the acquisition of the US operations was recognised in the 2009 
financial year.  This loss reflected the significantly lower expected future net cash flows from the US operations at that time, as compared to the 
business at the time of acquisition. The expectations of the US operation’s future cash flows have materially improved since 2009, and hence no 
further impairment losses were recognised during the 2010 financial year.  

In addition, an impairment loss of $13.916 million was recognised in the 2009 financial year in relation to goodwill, other intangible assets, 
non-current product receivables and investments held by the Australian business. No further impairment losses were recognised by the Australian 
business during the 2010 financial year. 

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

HFA operates a specialist global funds management business providing absolute return fund products to investors with the aim of achieving 
consistent risk adjusted returns.  

One of the Group’s most important assets is its quality people.  The Group has 98 staff in locations around the world.

Brisbane
Sydney

Melbourne

Florida

Chicago New York

London

Hong Kong

 

 

11

11 
3 
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Both the Lighthouse and Certitude operations are structured by function:

INVESTOR BASE

The Group’s overall investor base has remained solid and continues to be well diversified across both client type and geographical region. 

The Lighthouse business has an investor base that spans the United States, Europe, Canada and Asia and includes high net worth individuals, 
family offices, endowments, foundations, trusts, investment banks, benefit plans, pension funds, healthcare and insurance companies.

In Australia, Certitude provides absolute return products to retail, wholesale and institutional investors via the operation and distribution of 
managed investment schemes.

At the Group level, allocations of the investor base as at 30 June 2010 by investor type and geographical region are as follows:

ASSETS UNDER MANAGEMENT

Global economic factors eased throughout the 2010 financial year as compared to the Global Financial Crisis (“GFC”) in the prior year.  The 
Group’s funds under management (“FUM”) in AUD terms (excluding leverage within the products) remained relatively steady. 

As at 30 June 2010, HFA had total FUM of $5.51 billion (2009: $5.62 billion) and total AUM of $5.54 billion (2009: $6.16 billion). This represents 
a decrease of 2% in FUM and 10% in AUM since the end of the previous financial year. The following chart shows how performance, net flows, 
reduction in leverage within the products and foreign exchange translation impacted the FUM (represented as product equity in the chart) and 
AUM over the financial year:

AUM by Investor Type

Certitude Lighthouse Head Office

Corporate/Institutional (26%) Americas (55%)

Retail (21%) Asia Pacific (26%)

Employee (3%) Europe (19%)

HNW & Family Offices (17%)

Endowment & Foundation (10%)

Benefit Plans (23%)

AUM by Region

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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AUM by Investor Type

LIGHTHOUSE - US OPERATIONS

The Lighthouse operations in the US have demonstrated a steady 
recovery from the worst impacts of the GFC in 2008 and 2009.  AUM 
for Lighthouse has increased from USD 3.27 billion to USD 3.63 billion, 
an increase of 11% for the financial year ended 30 June 2010.  This 
increase is driven by both positive net inflows for the year of USD 
195 million, and positive investment performance across the core 
Lighthouse products.

One of Lighthouse’s key focuses during the 2010 financial year has 
been the distribution of its managed account program.  Lighthouse 
first established its managed account program in 2005, and has been 
refining and expanding the program since that time, with the program 
being completed during this financial year.

A major theme amongst investors coming out of the GFC has been 
a demand for increased transparency, direct security over underlying 
assets, greater certainty of asset valuations and access to the liquidity 
of the underlying assets.  Benefits of managed accounts to investors 
include a better understanding of the overall risks within a portfolio, 
and enhanced management and monitoring of risk.  The Lighthouse 
managed account program, which meets the demands of Investors 
post the GFC and delivers the related benefits, has been well received 
by existing and potential Lighthouse investors.  The program has been 
rolled out as much as possible across the existing Lighthouse funds, 
and new Lighthouse funds are being established to capitalise on the 
benefits that the managed account program offers.  During 2010, 
70% of subscriptions into Lighthouse products were received into 
Lighthouse funds which utilise the managed account program.

Lighthouse has continued to maintain a strong, diversified global 
investor base, with allocations to different investor types as at 30 June 
2010 as follows:

With the growth of AUM throughout the 2010 financial year, 
Lighthouse has been the major contributor to the Group’s result, with 
the US operations accounting for approximately 78% of net operating 
income, and 89% of EBITDA (excluding the foreign exchange losses on 
the intercompany loan).

CERTITUDE - AUSTRALIAN OPERATIONS

The Australian operations have experienced a more challenging year, 
with the recovery of the Australian retail funds management sector 
occurring more slowly than the broader global hedge fund market.  The 
2010 financial year was a period of resolution of residual issues from 
the GFC, and provided the opportunity to re-evaluate the strategic 
direction of the Australian business.

Australian AUM fell 39%, whilst overall FUM (which excludes leverage) 
fell 21%.  The key drivers for this decrease were:

•	 The completion of deleveraging by the Australian fund portfolios;

•	 $235 million of withdrawal offers by the HFA Diversified 	  
	 Investments Fund; and

•	 the discontinuation of the $78 million investment management  
	 agreement with Signature Capital Investments Limited (formerly  
	 HFA Accelerator Plus Limited) in February 2010.

To counter the resultant fall in revenue, the Australian business 
has placed a key focus on controlling operating costs, with a 28% 
reduction in operating costs for 2010 compared to the prior year.

Throughout the year, the Australian business has worked to retain the 
strength of its Independent Financial Adviser (“IFA”) network, and 
continues to be supported by 1,532 independent financial advisers, 
with products listed on 28 master trust platforms.
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The close of the financial year has seen positive developments for the Australian business, including the lifting of the redemption suspension from 
its largest Australian fund, the HFA Diversified Investments Fund.

Of key importance is the launch of a new business focus and strategy under the new brand name of Certitude, led by the new Australian business 
Chief Executive Officer, Mr Craig Mowll.  

Under this new approach, Certitude will broaden its business strategy on two key fronts:

•	 a broader investment offering, from an exclusive multi-strategy absolute return product base to being a more comprehensive provider of  
	 active funds management solutions; and

•	 an expansion of its investment base beyond its traditional IFA sourced retail investor base toward the needs of institutional and high net  
	 worth investors as well.

Whilst the existing Australian funds will retain the HFA brand, new products which fit within a broader active manager product suite will carry the 
Certitude brand name.

Results of the Australian operations will continue to be impacted in the short-term by the decline in AUM which has occurred over the 2009 and 
2010 financial years. However, the successful implementation of the new business strategy under the Certitude brand, including the introduction 
of high quality single manager products that are liquid, transparent and simple, will lay the foundations for renewed AUM growth and profitability 
over the medium-term.

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN THE STATE OF AFFAIRS

In the opinion of the directors there were no significant changes in the state of affairs of the Group that occurred during the financial year under 
review.

8. DIVIDENDS 
Dividends paid or declared by the Company to members since the end of the previous financial year are:

Final 2009 ordinary	 -	 -	 -	 N/A

Interim 2010 ordinary	 -	 -	 -	 N/A

Total amount	 	 -	 	

Final 2008 ordinary	 3.5	 16,085	 Franked	 26 September 2008

Interim 2009 ordinary	 -	 -	 -	 N/A

Total amount	 	 16,085	 	

Franked dividends declared and paid during the 2009 year were franked at the tax rate of 30%.

DECLARED AFTER END OF YEAR

The directors have at the date of this report declared that no final dividend will be paid for the financial year ended 30 June 2010.

9. EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO REPORTING DATE 
In the opinion of the directors of the Company, there has not arisen in the interval between the end of the financial year and the date of this 
report any item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature likely to affect significantly the operations of the Group, the results of those 
operations, or the state of affairs of the Group, in future financial years.   

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

Declared and paid during the 
2010 financial year

Declared and paid during the 
2010 financial year

Cents per 
share

Cents per 
share

Total amount 
$000’s

Total amount 
$000’s

Franked / 
unfranked

Franked / 
unfranked

Date of 
payment

Date of 
payment
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12.  AUDITOR 
KPMG continues in office as auditor in accordance with section 327 
of the Corporations Act 2001.

NON-AUDIT SERVICES

During the year KPMG, the Company’s auditor, has performed certain 
other services in addition to their statutory duties.

The board has considered the non-audit services provided during the 
year by the auditor and it is satisfied that the provision of those non-
audit services during the year by the auditor is compatible with, and 
did not compromise, the auditor independence requirements of the 
Corporations Act 2001 for the following reasons:

•	 all non-audit services were subject to the corporate governance  
	 procedures adopted by the Company and have been reviewed by  
	 the audit committee to ensure they do not impact the integrity  
	 and objectivity of the auditor; and

•	 the non-audit services provided do not undermine the general  
	 principles relating to auditor independence as set out in APES 110  
	 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants, as they did not  
	 involve reviewing or auditing the auditor’s own work, acting in a 	
	 management or decision making capacity for the Company, acting  
	 as an advocate for the Company or jointly sharing risks and 	  
	 rewards.

Details of the amounts paid or payable to KPMG for audit and non 
audit services are provided in note 28 of the financial statements.

LEAD AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION UNDER 
SECTION 307C OF THE CORPORATIONS ACT 2001 

The lead auditor’s independence declaration required under section 
307C of the Corporations Act 2001 is set out on page 26 and forms 
part of the directors’ report for the financial year ended 30 June 2010.

13. ROUNDING OFF 
The Company is a kind referred to in ASIC Class Order 98/100 dated 
10 July 1998 and in accordance with that Class Order, amounts in the 
financial report and directors’ report have been rounded off to the 
nearest thousand dollars, unless otherwise stated.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors:

Spencer Young			   F P (Andy) Esteban
Chairman / Executive Director /	 	 Non-Executive Director 
Chief Executive Officer

Dated at Sydney this 19th day of August 2010

10.  LIKELY DEVELOPMENTS 
The US Lighthouse business will continue to focus on the development 
and distribution of its managed account program, in particular focusing 
on broadening distribution not only geographically, but also into the 
larger institutional investor space.

The Australian business will pursue its new business strategy, rolling 
out new products which fit with its broader “active funds management 
solution” philosophy, and focusing distribution efforts not only on the 
independent financial adviser network, but also high net worth and 
institutional investors.

Further information about likely developments in the operations of the 
Group and the expected results of those operations in future financial 
years has not been included in this report because disclosure of the 
information would be likely to result in unreasonable prejudice to 
the Group.

11.  INDEMNIFICATION AND INSURANCE 
OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS
INDEMNIFICATION

The Company has agreed to indemnify current directors and former 
directors against all liabilities to another person (other than the 
Company or a related body corporate) that may arise from their 
position as directors of the Company and its controlled entities, except 
where the liability arises out of conduct involving a lack of good faith. 
The agreement stipulates that the Company will meet the full amount 
of any such liabilities, including costs and expenses.

The Company has also agreed to indemnify the current directors of 
its controlled entities for all liabilities to another person (other than 
the Company or a related body corporate) that may arise from their 
position, except where the liability arises out of conduct involving 
a lack of good faith. The agreement stipulates that the Company 
will meet the full amount of any such liabilities, including costs and 
expenses.

INSURANCE PREMIUMS

The directors have not included details of the amount of the premium 
paid in respect of the directors’ and officers’ liability insurance 
contracts, as such disclosure is prohibited under the terms of the 
contract.  The insurance premiums paid relate to costs and expenses 
incurred by the relevant officers in defending proceedings, whether 
civil or criminal and whatever their outcome; and other liabilities that 
may arise from their position, with the exception of conduct involving 
a willful breach of duty or improper use of information or position to 
gain a personal advantage.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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LEAD AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION

LEAD AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION 
UNDER SECTION 307C OF THE CORPORATIONS ACT 2001

TO THE DIRECTORS OF HFA HOLDINGS LIMITED:

I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, in relation to the 
audit for the financial year ended 30 June 2010 there have been:

•	 no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements as set 
	 out in the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit; and

•	 no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in 
	 relation to the audit.

KPMG

 

Robert S Jones
Partner

Dated at Brisbane this 19th day of August 2010

KPMG, an Australian partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of 
independant member firms affiliated with KPMG International, a Swiss cooperative.

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.
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The notes on pages 32 to 70 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

As at 30 June 2010

in thousands of AUD Note 2010 2009
 
Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 10 32,977 29,290

Trade and other receivables 11 12,817 19,391

Current tax assets 13 500 307

Total current assets 46,294 48,988

Investments 12 2,373 2,319

Plant and equipment 14 1,615 1,893

Deferred tax assets 13 293 496

Intangible assets 15 171,683 191,959

Total non-current assets 175,964 196,667

Total assets 222,258 245,655

Liabilities

Trade and other payables 16 7,252 9,294

Employee benefits 17 4,399 5,303

Derivatives 18 1,359 -

Loans and borrowings 20 10,322 7,879

Total current liabilities 23,332 22,476

Employee benefits 17 172 217

Derivatives 18 - 3,455

Loans and borrowings 20 110,351 137,039

Total non-current liabilities 110,523 140,711

Total liabilities 133,855 163,187

Net assets 88,403 82,468

Equity

Share capital 504,730 504,730

Reserves 21 112,971 113,987

Retained earnings / (accumulated losses) (529,298) (536,249)

Total equity attributable to equity holders of the Company 88,403 82,468

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

For the year ended 30 June 2010

in thousands of AUD Note 2010 2009
 
Revenue

 
7

 
72,576

 
112,855

Investment management costs (11,956) (17,312)

Net income from operating activities 60,620 95,543

Other income 7 4 208

Expenses 7 (45,391) (57,635)

Results from operating activities before impairment 
losses and equity settled transactions 15,233 38,116

Impairment losses 7 - (599,537)

Equity settled transactions 7 (2,250) (12,396)

Results from operating activities 12,983 (573,817)

Finance income 8 660 2,018

Finance costs 8 (7,338) (8,665)

Net finance costs (6,678) (6,647)

Profit / (loss) before income tax 6,305 (580,464)

Income tax (expense) / benefit 9 (1,604) 7,280

Net profit / (loss) for the period 4,701 (573,184)

Attributable to:

Owners of the Company 4,701 (573,184)

Profit / (loss) for the period 4,701 (573,184)

Earnings per share

Basic earnings / (loss) per share (cents per share) 22 1.013 (124.641)

Diluted earnings / (loss) per share (cents per share) 22 1.013 (124.474)

The notes on pages 32 to 70 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the year ended 30 June 2010 

in thousands of AUD Note 2010 2009

Profit for the period 4,701 (573,184)

Other comprehensive income

Foreign currency translation differences for foreign operations 8 (3,187) 178,436

Effective portion of changes in fair value of cash flow hedges 8 2,096 (6,207)

Net change in fair value of available-for-sale financial assets 8 107 7

Income tax on other comprehensive income 9 (32) (24,094)

Other comprehensive income / (expense)  for the period, net of income tax (1,016) 148,142

Total comprehensive income / (expense) for the period 3,685 (425,042)

Attributable to:

Owners of the Company 3,685 (425,042)

Total comprehensive income / (expense) for the period 3,685 (425,042)

The notes on pages 32 to 70 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 30 June 2010

ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

in thousands of AUD
 

Balance at 1 July 2008 504,730 (4) 1,613 (35,764) 40,624 511,199

Total comprehensive income for the period

Profit / (loss) for the period - - - - (573,184) (573,184)

Other comprehensive income

Foreign currency translation differences, net of tax 8(b) - - - 153,206 - 153,206

Effective portion of changes in fair value of cash 
flow hedges, net of tax 8(b) - - (5,068) - - (5,068)

Net change in fair value of available-for-sale 
financial assets, net of tax 8(b) - 4 - - - 4

Total other comprehensive income - 4 (5,068) 153,206 - 148,142

Total comprehensive income for the period - 4 (5,068) 153,206 (573,184) (425,042)

Transactions with owners, recorded directly in equity

Dividends to equity holders 21 - - - - (16,085) (16,085)

Equity settled transactions 19 - - - - 12,396 12,396

Total transactions with owners - - - - (3,689) (3,689)

Balance at 30 June 2009 504,730 - (3,455) 117,442 (536,249) 82,468

Balance at 1 July 2009 504,730 - (3,455) 117,442 (536,249) 82,468

Total comprehensive income for the period

Profit / (loss) for the period - - - - 4,701 4,701

Other comprehensive income

Foreign currency translation differences, net of tax 8(b) - - - (3,187) - (3,187)

Effective portion of changes in fair value of cash 
flow hedges, net of tax 8(b) - - 2,096 - - 2,096

Net change in fair value of available-for-sale 
financial assets, net of tax 8(b) - 75 - - - 75

Total other comprehensive income - 75 2,096 (3,187) - 1,016

Total comprehensive income for the period - 75 2,096 (3,187) 4,701 3,685

Transactions with owners, recorded directly in equity

Dividends to equity holders 21 - - - - - -

Equity settled transactions 19 - - - - 2,250 2,250

Total transactions with owners - - - - 2,250 2,250

Balance at 30 June 2010 504,730 75 (1,359) 114,255 (529,298) 88,403

Equity settled transactions relate to the recognition of shares issued to employees under the 2008 HFA Employee Performance Rights Plan and 
the Lighthouse Investment Partners Short Term Incentive Plan (2009: 2008 Employee Performance Right Plan and the Lighthouse Investment 
Partners Incentive Compensation Plan).  This is a non-cash expense.  These amounts are recognised in retained earnings. 

The notes on pages 32 to 70 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Note
Share  

Capital
Fair Value 
Reserve

Hedging 
Reserve

Translation 
Reserve

Retained 
Earnings

Total 
Equity
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the year ended 30 June 2010

in thousands of AUD

 
 

Note 2010 2009

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash receipts from customers 79,995 123,918

Cash paid to suppliers and employees (49,610) (72,250)

Cash generated from operations 30,385 51,668

Interest received 541 796

Dividends and distributions received - 8

Income taxes paid (1,528) (9,931)

Net cash from operating activities 24 29,398 42,541

Cash flows from investing activities

Acquisition of plant and equipment (525) (162)

Acquisition of investments (167) (67)

Proceeds from disposal of investment 310 -

Net cash used in investing activities (382) (229)

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from borrowings - 9,999

Repayment of borrowings (17,660) (34,803)

Borrowing costs (135) (1,659)

Dividends paid - (16,085)

Interest paid (6,930) (6,562)

Net cash used in financing activities (24,725) (49,110)

Net increase/(decrease)  in cash and cash equivalents 4,291 (6,798)

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 July 29,290 38,828

Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash held (604) (2,740)

Cash and cash equivalents at 30 June 10 32,977 29,290

The notes on pages 32 to 70 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

1. REPORTING ENTITY 
HFA Holdings Limited (the “Company” / “HFA”) is domiciled in 
Australia. HFA is a company limited by shares, incorporated in Australia 
whose shares are publicly listed on the Australian Securities Exchange. 
The consolidated financial statements of the Company as at and 
for the year ended 30 June 2010 comprise the Company and its 
subsidiaries (the “Group”).

HFA has four Australian domiciled wholly owned subsidiaries, Certitude 
Global Investments Limited (formerly HFA Asset Management Limited) 
(“Certitude”), Admin Pty Ltd (formerly HFA Admin Pty Ltd) (“Admin”), 
A.C.N. 122 776 550 Pty Ltd and A.C.N. 143 806 651 Limited. Certitude 
is the responsible entity for the Australian based investment schemes. 
Admin is a service entity to Certitude and provides administrative 
services including staff, premises and other resources to Certitude and 
the Company. A.C.N 122 776 550 Pty Ltd and A.C.N. 143 806 651 are 
dormant entities.

HFA also has two foreign subsidiaries, HFA Lighthouse Holdings Corp. 
and HFA Lighthouse Corp.  Both foreign subsidiaries are incorporated 
in the United States and were established to facilitate the acquisition 
of US based Lighthouse Group. The Lighthouse Group comprises five 
foreign entities being LHP Investments LLC, Lighthouse Investment 
Partners LLC, Lighthouse Partners NY LLC, Lighthouse Partners UK LLC 
(all incorporated in the United States) and Lighthouse Partners Limited 
(HK) (incorporated in Hong Kong). Lighthouse Investment Partners LLC 
is the investment manager for the Lighthouse investment schemes. 

The registered office of HFA is Level 5, 151 Macquarie Street, 
Sydney NSW 2000. 

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 
(A)	STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE

The consolidated financial report is a general purpose financial report 
which has been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting 
Standards (AASBs) (including Australian Interpretations) adopted 
by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB) and the 
Corporations Act 2001. The consolidated financial report of the Group 
also complies with the International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRSs) and interpretations adopted by the International Accounting 
Standards Board (IASB). 

The financial statements were approved by the board of directors on 
19 August 2010.

(B)	 BASIS OF MEASUREMENT

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going 
concern basis. As such, the consolidated financial statements have 
been prepared on a historical cost basis except for the following items 
in the statement of financial position:

•	 derivative financial instruments are measured at fair value

•	 financial instruments at fair value through the profit or loss are  
	 measured at fair value

•	 available-for-sale financial assets that are measured at fair value

Methods used to measure fair value are discussed further in note 4.

(C)	 FUNCTIONAL AND PRESENTATION CURRENCY

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Australian 
dollars, which is the Company’s functional currency.  The Company is of 
a kind referred to in ASIC Class Order 98/100 dated 10 July 1998 and 
in accordance with the Class Order, amounts in the financial report have 
been rounded to the nearest thousand dollars, unless otherwise stated.

(D) 	USE OF ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity 
with AASBs requires management to make judgements, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the 
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual 
results may differ from these estimates. 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing 
basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period 
in which the estimate is revised and in any future periods affected. 

Information about critical judgements in applying accounting policies 
that have the most significant effect on the amount recognised in the 
financial statements are described below:

•	 note 12 - measurement of investments

•	 note 13 - utilisation of tax losses

•	 note 15 - measurement of the recoverable amounts of 
	 	      cash-generating units containing goodwill

•	 note 19 - measurement of share based payments

•	 note 25 - valuation of financial instruments

(E) 	CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Starting as of 1 July 2009, the Group has changed its accounting 
policies in the following areas:

•	 Accounting for business combinations

•	 Determination and presentation of operating segments

•	 Presentation of financial statements

3.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently 
to all periods presented in these consolidated financial statements, and 
have been applied consistently by Group entities, except as explained 
in notes 2(e), 3(a)(i), 3(q) and 3(r) which address changes 
in accounting policies. 

(A) BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements are those of the Group, 
comprising HFA Holdings Limited (the parent company) and all entities 
that HFA Holdings Limited controlled from time to time during the 
period and at the reporting date.

For the year ended 30 June 2010
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

(B) FOREIGN CURRENCY 

(i)	 Foreign currency transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective 
functional currencies of the Group entities at the exchange rates at the 
dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated 
in foreign currencies at the reporting date are retranslated to the 
functional currency at the foreign exchange rate at that date. The foreign 
currency gain or loss on monetary items is the difference between 
amortised cost in the functional currency at the beginning of the period, 
adjusted for effective interest and payments during the period, and the 
amortised cost in foreign currency translated at the exchange rate at 
the end of the period. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated 
in foreign currencies that are measured at fair value are retranslated 
to the functional currency at the exchange rate at the date that the 
fair value was determined.  Foreign currency differences arising on 
retranslation are recognised in profit or loss, except for differences 
arising on retranslation of available-for-sale equity instruments and a 
financial liability designated as a qualifying cash flow hedge, which are 
recognised directly in equity (see (c)(ii) below).

(ii)	 Foreign operations

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill 
and fair value adjustments arising on acquisition, are translated to 
Australian dollars at exchange rates at the reporting date.  The income 
and expenses of foreign operations are translated to Australian 
dollars using exchange rates approximating the date of the relevant 
transaction.

Foreign currency differences are recognised directly in the foreign 
currency translation reserve (FCTR) in equity.   When a foreign 
operation is disposed of, in part or in full, the relevant amount in the 
FCTR is transferred to the profit or loss.

Foreign exchange gains or losses arising from a monetary item 
receivable from, or payable to, a foreign operation, the settlement 
of which is neither planned nor likely in the foreseeable future, are 
considered to form part of a net investment in a foreign operation and 
are recognised directly in equity in the FCTR.

(C) FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(i) 	 Non-derivative financial instruments

The Group initially recognises financial instruments on the date 
that they are originated. All other financial instruments (including 
instruments designated at fair value through profit or loss) are 
recognised initially on the trade date at which the Group becomes 
a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. The Group 
derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash 
flows from the asset expire and derecognises a financial liability when 
its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled or expire.

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented 
in the statement of financial position when, and only when, the Group 
has a legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to settle on a 
net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 

The Group has the following non-derivative financial instruments:

(i)	 Business combinations

Change in accounting policy

The Group has adopted revised AASB 3 Business Combinations 
(2008) and amended AASB 127 Consolidated and Separate Financial 
Statements (2008) which would be relevant to the Group’s operations 
in the event of any future changes to its business combinations. 
The change in accounting policy is applied prospectively and had no 
material impact on earnings per share.

For every business combination, the Group identifies the acquirer, 
which is the combining entity that obtains control of the other 
combining entities or businesses. Control is the power to govern 
the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain 
benefits from its activities.  In assessing control, the Group takes into 
consideration potential voting rights that currently are exercisable. 
The acquisition date is the date on which control is transferred to the 
acquirer. Judgement is applied in determining the acquisition date and 
determining whether control is transferred from one party to another.

Measuring goodwill

The Group measures goodwill as the fair value of the consideration 
transferred including the recognised amount of any non-controlling 
interest in the acquiree, less the net recognised amount (generally fair 
value) of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed, all 
measured as of the acquisition date. 

Consideration transferred includes the fair values of the assets 
transferred, liabilities incurred by the Group to the previous owners of 
the acquiree, and equity interests issued by the Group. Consideration 
transferred also includes the fair value of any contingent consideration 
and share-based payment awards of the acquiree that are replaced 
mandatorily in the business combination (see below).  If a business 
combination results in the termination of pre-existing relationships 
between the Group and the acquiree, then the lower of the 
termination amount, as contained in the agreement, and the value of 
the off-market element is deducted from the consideration transferred 
and recognised in other expenses.

Transaction costs

Transaction costs that the Group incurs in connection with a business 
combination, such as finder’s fees, legal fees, due diligence fees, and 
other professional and consulting fees, are expensed as incurred.

(ii)	 Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The financial 
statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial 
statements from the date that control commences until the date that 
control ceases.  

The accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where 
necessary to align them with the policies adopted by the Group. 
The financial statements of subsidiaries are prepared for the same 
reporting period as the parent company. 

(iii) Transactions eliminated on consolidation

Intra-group balances, and any unrealised income & expenses arising 
from intra-group transactions, are eliminated in preparing the 
consolidated financial statements. 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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accounting is discontinued prospectively.  The cumulative gain or 
loss previously recognised in equity remains there until the forecast 
transaction occurs.  When the hedged item is a non-financial asset, the 
amount recognised in equity is transferred to the carrying amount of 
the asset when it is recognised.  In other cases the amount recognised 
in equity is transferred to profit or loss in the same period that the 
hedged item affects profit or loss.

(iii) Share capital

Ordinary shares

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly 
attributable to the issue of ordinary shares and share options are 
recognised as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects. 

(D) PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(i) 	 Recognition and measurement

Items of plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.  

Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the 
acquisition of the asset.  Purchased software that is integral to the 
functionality of the related equipment is capitalised as part of that 
equipment.  

Gains and losses on disposal of an item of plant and equipment 
are determined by comparing the proceeds from disposal with the 
carrying amount of plant and equipment and are recognised net within 
“expenses” in profit or loss.  

(ii)	 Depreciation

Depreciation is recognised in the profit or loss on a straight-line basis 
over the estimated useful life of the asset as follows:

Furnititure and equipment 7 years 

Leasehold improvements Lease Term

Computer equipment 3 - 5 years

The residual value, the useful life and the depreciation method applied 
to an asset are reassessed at least annually. The carrying value of plant 
and equipment is reviewed for impairment (see accounting policy (g)) 
when events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value 
may not be recoverable.

(E) LEASED ASSETS

Leases under the terms of which the Group assumes substantially all 
the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as finance leases. 
Upon initial recognition the leased asset is measured at an amount 
equal to the lower of its fair value and the present value of the 
minimum lease payments. Subsequent to initial recognition, the asset 
is accounted for in accordance with the accounting policy applicable to 
that asset.

Other leases are operating leases and the leased assets are not 
recognised on the Group’s balance sheet.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits.

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are financial assets with fixed or 
determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. Such 
assets are recognised initially at fair value, and then subsequently are 
measured at amortised cost less impairment losses (see accounting 
policy (g)).

Available-for-sale financial assets

The Group’s investments in equity securities are classified as available-
for-sale financial assets. Subsequent to initial recognition, they are 
measured at fair value and changes therein, other than impairment 
losses (see accounting policy (g)), are recognised as a separate 
component of equity. When an investment is derecognised, the 
cumulative gain or loss in equity is transferred to profit or loss.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

A financial asset is classified as at fair value through profit or loss if 
it is held for trading or is designated as such upon initial recognition.  
Financial assets are designated at fair value through profit or loss if 
the Group manages such investments and makes purchase and sale 
decisions based on the fair value in accordance with the Group’s 
investment strategy or risk management strategy.  Upon initial 
recognition, attributable transaction costs are recognised in profit or 
loss when incurred.  Financial instruments at fair value through profit 
or loss are measured at fair value, and changes therein are recognised 
in profit or loss.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are stated at their amortised cost. Trade 
payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 
30-day terms.

Loans and borrowings

Loans and borrowings are recognised initially at fair value plus any 
directly attributable transaction costs.  Subsequent to initial recognition 
these financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest rate method.

(ii) Derivative financial instruments

The Group holds/has held derivative financial instruments to hedge 
certain foreign currency and interest rate risk exposures.  Derivatives 
are recognised initially at fair value and attributable transaction costs 
are recognised in profit or loss when incurred. Subsequent to initial 
recognition, derivatives are measured at fair value and changes therein 
accounted for as described below. 

Cash flow hedges

Changes in fair value of derivative hedging instruments designated 
as cash flow hedges are recognised directly in equity to the extent 
that the hedge is effective.  To the extent that the hedge is ineffective, 
changes in fair value are recognised in profit or loss.

If the hedging instrument no longer meets the criteria for hedge 
accounting, expires or is sold, terminated or exercised, then hedge 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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(F) INTANGIBLE ASSETS

(i) 	 Goodwill

Goodwill on acquisition of subsidiaries is initially measured at cost, 
being the excess of the cost of the acquisition over the Group’s interest 
in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent 
liabilities of the acquiree. Following initial recognition, goodwill 
is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses (see 
accounting policy (g)).

As at acquisition date, any goodwill is allocated to the acquired 
cash-generated units that gave rise to the recognition of the goodwill. 
Goodwill is not amortised but reviewed for impairment annually or 
more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 
carrying value may be impaired.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of 
the cash-generating unit to which the goodwill relates. When the 
recoverable amount of the cash generating unit is less than the 
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. 

(ii)	 Management rights and customer relationships

Where acquired separately, management rights and customer 
relationship assets are capitalised at cost.  Subsequent to acquisition, 
the assets are measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and 
accumulated impairment losses (see accounting policy (g)).

(iii) Other intangible assets

Other intangible assets acquired by the Group, which have finite lives, 
are measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated 
impairment losses.

Intangible assets created within the business are not capitalised 
and expenditure is charged against profits in the year in which the 
expenditure is incurred.

(iv)	Amortisation

Amortisation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over 
the estimated useful lives of intangible assets, other than goodwill, 
from the date that they are available for use.  The estimated useful 
lives for the current and comparative periods are as follows:

Management rights and customer relationships 5 - 10 years 

Trademarks 20 years

Capitalised software development costs 5 years

(G) IMPAIRMENT

(i)	 Financial assets

A financial asset is assessed at each reporting date to determine 
whether there is any objective evidence that it is impaired. A financial 
asset is considered to be impaired if objective evidence indicates that 
one or more events have had a negative effect on the estimated future 
cash flows of that asset.

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at 
amortised cost is calculated as the difference between its carrying 

amount, and the present value of the estimated future cash flows 
discounted at the original effective interest rate. An impairment loss 
in respect of an available-for-sale financial asset is calculated by 
reference to its fair value.

Significant financial assets are tested for impairment on an individual 
basis. The remaining financial assets are assessed collectively in groups 
that share similar credit risk characteristics.

All impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. Any cumulative 
loss in respect of an available-for-sale financial asset recognised 
previously in equity is transferred to profit or loss.

An impairment loss is reversed if the reversal can be related objectively 
to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised. For 
financial assets measured at amortised cost the reversal is recognised 
in profit or loss. For available-for-sale financial assets that are equity 
securities, the reversal is recognised directly in equity.

(ii)	 Non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets, other 
than deferred tax assets (see accounting policy (n)), are reviewed at 
each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of 
impairment. If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount 
is estimated. For goodwill and intangible assets that have indefinite lives, 
the recoverable amount is estimated at each reporting date.

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the 
greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell. In 
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted 
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific 
to the asset. For the purpose of impairment testing, assets are grouped 
together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows 
from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of 
other assets or groups of assets (the “cash-generating unit”). 

An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of 
an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount. 
Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. Impairment losses 
recognised in respect of cash-generating units are allocated first to 
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the units and 
then to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in the unit 
(group of units) on a pro-rata basis.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. In respect 
of other assets, impairment losses recognised in prior periods are 
assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the loss has 
decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there 
has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable 
amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the 
asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that 
would have been determined, net of depreciation and amortisation, if 
no impairment loss had been recognised.

(H) PROVISIONS

A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event the Group has a 
present obligation (legal or constructive) that can be estimated reliably, 
and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required 
to settle the obligation. 
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If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are 
determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax 
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of 
money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability.

(I) EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 

(i)	 Wages and salaries, annual leave and long 
	 service leave 

Liabilities arising in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and 
any other employee benefits expected to be settled within 12 months 
of the reporting date are measured at their nominal amounts based on 
remuneration rates which are expected to be paid when the liability 
is settled, including related on-costs.  All other employee benefit 
liabilities are measured at the present value of the estimated future 
cash outflow to be made in respect of services provided by employees 
up to the reporting date. In determining the present value of future 
cash outflows, the market yield as at the reporting date on national 
government bonds, which have terms to maturity approximating the 
terms of the related liability, are used.

Employee benefits expenses arising in respect of the following 
categories:

•	 wages and salaries, non-monetary benefits, annual leave, long  
	 service leave, sick leave and other leave benefits; 

•	 termination benefits; and

•	 other types of employee benefits,

are recognised against profits on a net basis in their respective 
categories.

(ii)	 Defined contribution plans

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under 
which an entity pays fixed contributions into a separate entity and 
will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts.  
Obligations for contributions to defined contribution plans are 
recognised as an employee benefit expense in profit or loss in the 
periods during which services are rendered by employees.  

(iii) Short-term benefits

Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an 
undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related service is provided. 

A liability is recognised for the amount expected to be paid under 
short-term cash bonus or profit-sharing plans if the Group has a 
present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result 
of past service provided by the employee, and the obligation can be 
measured reliably. 

(iv)	 Share-based payments

The Group provides benefits to its employees in the form of share-
based payment transactions, whereby employees render services 
in exchange for shares or rights over shares (“equity-settled 
transactions”).

The grant date fair value of share-based payment awards granted to 
employees is recognised as an equity settled transaction expense in 

the profit or loss, with a corresponding increase in equity, over the 
period that the employees unconditionally become entitled to the 
awards.  The amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect 
the number of awards for which the related service and non-market 
vesting conditions are expected to be met, such that the amount 
ultimately recognised as an expense is based on the number of awards 
that meet the related service and non-market performance conditions 
at the vesting date.  

The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at 
each reporting date until vesting date reflects: (i) the extent to which the 
vesting period has expired; and (ii) the number of awards that, in the 
opinion of the directors of the Group, will ultimately vest. This opinion is 
formed based on the best available information at balance date.

Share based payment arrangements in which the Group receives 
goods or services as consideration for its own equity instruments are 
accounted for as equity-settled share-based payment transactions, 
regardless of how the equity instruments are obtained by the Group. 

(J) REVENUE

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the 
economic benefits will flow to the entity and the revenue can be 
reliably measured. The following specific recognition criteria must also 
be met before revenue is recognised. Where amounts do not meet 
these recognition criteria, they are deferred and recognised in the 
period in which the recognition criteria are met.

Management fees and performance fees

Periodic management fees are received for management services 
provided by Group entities that act as investment manager in relation 
to various investment products. These fees are recognised as revenues 
as the management services are provided.

Periodic performance fees are received by group entities that act 
as investment manager of various investment products when the 
performance of the product exceeds a predetermined level. These fees 
are recognised as revenues when it is established that performance of 
the investment product has exceeded the required level.

(K) INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT COSTS

Investment management costs consist of fees for investment 
management services from investment advisors, distribution rebates 
and trail commissions paid to financial advisors and other third party 
distributors. These costs are recognised on an accrual basis.

(L) LEASE PAYMENTS

Payments made under operating leases are recognised in profit or loss 
on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Lease incentives 
received are recognised as an integral part of the total lease expense, 
over the term of the lease.

(M) FINANCE INCOME AND FINANCE COSTS

Finance income comprises interest income on funds invested, dividend 
and distribution income, gains on the disposal of available-for-sale 
financial assets and changes in the fair value of financial assets held at 
fair value through the profit or loss. Interest income is recognised as it 
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accrues in profit or loss, using the effective interest method. Dividend 
and distribution income is recognised in profit or loss on the date that 
the Group’s right to receive payment is established, which in the case 
of quoted securities is the ex-dividend date.

Finance costs comprise interest expense on borrowings, changes in the 
fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, and 
losses on hedging instruments that are recognised in profit or loss. 

Foreign currency gains and losses are recognised on a net basis.

(N) INCOME TAX

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax 
expense is recognised in the profit or loss except to the extent that 
it relates to items recognised directly in equity, in which case it is 
recognised in equity.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the 
year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting 
date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is recognised using the balance sheet method, providing 
for temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for 
taxation purposes. The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the 
expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of 
assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted 
at the reporting date. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if 
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and 
assets, and they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority 
on the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities, but they intend 
to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax 
assets and liabilities will be realised simultaneously.

A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable 
that future taxable profits will be available against which the asset can 
be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reduced to the extent that it is no 
longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.  

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of dividends 
are recognised at the same time as the liability to pay the related 
dividend is recognised.

Tax consolidation

The Company and its wholly-owned Australian resident entities 
formed a tax-consolidated group with effect from 1 May 2006 and are 
therefore taxed as a single entity from that date. The head entity within 
the tax-consolidated group is HFA Holdings Limited. 

Current tax expense/income, deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax 
assets arising from temporary differences of the members of the tax-
consolidated group are recognised in the separate financial statements 
of the members of the tax-consolidated group using the ‘separate 
taxpayer within group’ approach by reference to the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities in the separate financial statements of each 
entity and the tax values applying under tax consolidation.

Any current tax liabilities (or assets) and deferred tax assets arising from 
unused tax losses of the subsidiaries is assumed by the head entity in 
the tax-consolidated group and are recognised as amounts payable 
(receivable) to (from) other entities in the tax-consolidated group.  

The Company recognises deferred tax assets arising from unused tax 
losses of the tax-consolidated group to the extent that it is probable 
that future taxable profits of the tax-consolidated group will be 
available against which the asset can be utilised. 

Any subsequent period adjustments to deferred tax assets arising from 
unused tax losses as a result of revised assessments of the probability 
of recoverability is recognised by the head entity only.

(O) GOODS AND SERVICES TAX

Revenue, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of 
goods and services tax (GST) except where the GST incurred on a 
purchase of goods and services is not recoverable from the taxation 
authority. In these circumstances, the GST is recognised as part of the 
cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense.

Receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST 
included. The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the 
taxation authority is included as part of receivables or payables in the 
consolidated statement of financial position. 

Cash flows are included in the Statement of Cash Flows on a gross 
basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from investing and 
financing activities, which are recoverable from, or payable to, the 
taxation authority, are classified as operating cash flows.

(P) EARNINGS PER SHARE

The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS) data for 
its ordinary shares. Basic EPS is calculated by dividing the profit or loss 
attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company by the weighted 
average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period. 
Diluted EPS is determined by adjusting the profit or loss attributable to 
ordinary shareholders and the weighted average number of ordinary 
shares outstanding for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary 
shares, which includes share options granted to employees. 

(Q) SEGMENT REPORTING

As of 1 July 2009 the Group determines and presents operating 
segments based on the information that internally is provided to 
the Group’s CEO and board of directors, who are the Group’s chief 
operating decision makers.  This change in accounting policy is due 
to the adoption of AASB 8 Operating Segments.  Previously operating 
segments were determined and presented in accordance with AASB 
114 Segment Reporting.  The new accounting policy in respect of 
segment operating disclosures is presented as follows.  

Comparative segment information has been re-presented in conformity 
with the transitional requirements of the standard.  Since the change 
in accounting policy only impacts presentation and disclosure aspects, 
there is no impact on earnings per share.

An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages 
in business activities from which it may earn revenues and incur 
expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions 
with any of the Group’s other segments.  All operating segments’ 
operating results are regularly reviewed by the Group’s CEO and board 
of directors to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the 
segment and assess its performance, and for which discrete financial 
information is available.
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Segment results that are reported to the CEO and board of directors 
include items directly attributable to a segment. 

Unallocated items comprise assets and liabilities relating to HFA 
Holdings Limited and Admin Pty Ltd (the Australian parent and service 
entities), corporate expenses and amounts that are eliminated on 
consolidation of the Group.

(R) PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Group applies revised AASB 101 Presentation of Financial 
Statements (2007), which became effective as of 1 January 2009.  As a 
result, the Group presents in the consolidated statement of changes in 
equity all owner changes in equity, whereas all non-owner changes in 
equity are presented in the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income. 

Comparative information has been re-presented so that it also is in 
conformity with the revised standard. Since the change in accounting 
policy only impacts presentation aspects, there is no impact on 
earnings per share.

(S) 	NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS 
	 NOT YET ADOPTED

The following standards, amendments to standards and interpretations 
have been identified as those which may impact the entity in the 
period of initial application. They are available for early adoption at 
30 June 2010, but have not been applied in preparing this financial 
report:

•	 AASB 9 Financial Instruments includes requirements for the 
	 classification and measurement of financial assets resulting  
	 from the first part of Phase 1 of the project to replace AASB 139  
	 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. AASB 9 will 
	 become mandatory for the Group’s 30 June 2014 financial  
	 statements. Retrospective application is generally required,  
	 although there are exceptions, particularly if the entity adopts the  
	 standard for the year ended 30 June 2012 or earlier. The Group  
	 has not yet determined the potential effect of the standard.

•	 AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures (revised December 2009) 
	 simplifies and clarifies the intended meaning of the definition of  
	 a related party and provides a partial exemption from the  
	 disclosure requirements for government-related entities. The  
	 amendments, which will become mandatory for the Group’s 30  
	 June 2012 financial statements, are not expected to have any  
	 impact on the financial statements. 

•	 AASB 2009-5 Further amendments to Australian Accounting 	
	 Standards arising from the Annual Improvements Process affect 
	 various AASBs resulting in minor changes for presentation,  
	 disclosure, recognition and measurement purposes. The  
	 amendments, which become mandatory for the Group’s 30 June  
	 2011 financial statements, are not expected to have a significant  
	 impact on the financial statements. 

•	 AASB 2009-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
	 - Group Cash-settled Share-based Payment Transactions resolves 
� diversity in practice regarding the attribution of cash-settled share- 
	 based payments between different entities within a group. As a 	
	 result of the amendments AI 8 Scope of AASB 2 and AI 11 AASB 

	 2 - Group and Treasury Share Transactions will be withdrawn from 
	 the application date. The amendments, which become mandatory  
	 for the Group’s 30 June 2011 financial statements, are not  
	 expected to have a significant impact on the financial statements.

•	 IFRIC 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments 
	 addresses the accounting by an entity when the terms of a  
	 financial liability are renegotiated and result in the entity issuing  
	 equity instruments to a creditor of the entity to extinguish all  
	 or part of the financial liability. IFRIC 19 will become mandatory  
	 for the Group’s 30 June 2011 financial statements, with  
	 retrospective application required. The Group has not yet  
	 determined the potential effect of the interpretation.

4.  DETERMINATION OF FAIR VALUES 
A number of the Group’s accounting policies and disclosures require 
the determination of the fair value, for both financial and non-
financial assets and liabilities. Fair values have been determined for 
measurement and / or disclosure purposes based on the following 
methods. Where applicable, further information about the assumptions 
made in determining fair values is disclosed in the notes specific to 
that asset or liability.

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

The fair value of plant and equipment recognised as a result of a 
business combination is based on market values. The market value of 
items of plant, equipment, fixtures and fittings is based on the quoted 
market prices for similar items.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The fair value of intangibles acquired in a business combination is 
based on the discounted cash flows expected to be derived from the 
use and eventual sale of the assets.

INVESTMENTS IN EQUITY SECURITIES 
AND INVESTMENT VEHICLES

The fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and 
available-for-sale financial assets is determined by reference to their 
quoted closing bid price at the reporting date.  

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

The fair value of trade and other receivables is estimated as the 
present value of future cash flows, discounted at the market rate 
of interest at the reporting date. The fair value is determined for 
disclosure purposes. 

DERIVATIVES

The fair value of interest rate swaps is based on valuations received 
from the interest swap provider. These valuations are tested for 
reasonableness by discounting estimated future cash flows based on 
the terms and maturity of each contract and using market interest  
rates for a similar instrument at measurement date. 

NON-DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL ASSETS

Fair value is calculated based on the present value of future principal 
and interest cash flows discounted at the market rate of interest at the 
reporting date.  
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NON-DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Fair value, which is determined for disclosure purposes, is calculated 
based on the present value of future principal and interest cash flows, 
discounted at the market rate of interest at the reporting date. 

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

The fair value of equity settled share-based payment transactions 
rights is measured using the Black-Scholes model. Measurement inputs 
include share price on grant date, exercise price of the instrument, 
expected volatility (based on historical share price volatility), life of the 
instrument, expected dividends, and the risk free interest rate (based 
on government bonds). Service and non-market conditions are not 
taken into account in determining fair value. 

The fair value of cash settled share-based payment transactions is 
based on the market value of the shares on settlement date. 

5. RISK MANAGEMENT 
OVERVIEW

The Group has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial 
instruments:

•	 credit risk

•	 liquidity risk

•	 market risk

•	 operational risk

This note presents information about the Group’s exposure to each of 
the above risks, its objectives, policies and processes for measuring 
and managing risk, and the Group’s management of capital.  Further 
quantitative disclosures are included throughout these consolidated 
financial statements.

Risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the 
risks faced by the Group, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, 
and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies 
and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market 
conditions and the Group’s activities. The Group, through its training, 
employee manuals and procedures, aims to develop a disciplined and 
constructive control environment in which all employees understand 
their roles and obligations.

The board of directors has overall responsibility for the establishment 
and oversight of the risk management framework and oversees how 
management monitors compliance with the Group’s risk management 
policies and procedures and reviews the adequacy of the risk 
management framework.  

(A)	FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or 
counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual 
obligations, and arises principally from the Group’s receivables and 
investment securities.

Trade and other receivables

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is predominantly related to 
management fees, performance fees and other related fees from 
products managed by the Group (approximately 68% of the Group’s 
AUM is invested in the Lighthouse Diversified Fund and Lighthouse 
Global Long Short Fund). Receivables are actively monitored to 
minimise the Group’s exposure to bad debts.

Investments

The Group limits its exposure to credit risk from investments by only 
investing in either quoted securities or unquoted securities where 
the investment entity is managed by the Group.  Based on historical 
performance, management does not expect any counterparty to fail to 
meet its obligations.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet 
its financial obligations as they fall due.  The Group’s approach to 
managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it has sufficient 
liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and 
stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking 
damage to the Group’s reputation.

As detailed in note 20 to the financial statements, the Group has 
various bank facilities in place.  Under current arrangements, these 
facilities are due to mature in November 2011.  The Group has 
processes in place to ensure the terms and conditions of borrowing 
arrangements continue to be met.  In the normal course, the facilities 
will be renegotiated or refinanced prior to maturity.

The Group actively monitors cash flow and funding. The Group 
ensures that it has sufficient cash on demand to meet operational 
requirements, including the servicing of financial obligations.  This 
approach excludes the potential impact of extreme circumstances 
which cannot be predicted.

Market risk 

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign 
exchange rates, interest rates and equity prices will affect the Group’s 
income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments.  The 
objective of market risk management is to manage and control market 
risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the 
return.  

Currency risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk on fee revenue, receivables 
and borrowings that are denominated in a currency other than the 
respective functional currencies of the Group entities. This relates 
primarily to Australian dollar (AUD) denominated balances held by the 
US Lighthouse Group, which has a functional currency of US dollars 
(USD). 

In addition, the Group is exposed to currency risk in respect of financial 
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies and the foreign 
currency risk of net assets relating to the Group’s foreign operations.  
HFA is also exposed to currency risk in respect of the translation of its 
USD earnings.  
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The Group is also indirectly exposed to foreign currency risk on revenue 
earned from AUD denominated managed investment products invested 
in markets denominated in a currency other than AUD.  The currency 
giving rise to this risk is primarily USD. This risk is primarily hedged by 
the managed investment product directly, thereby reducing the foreign 
currency risk on revenues earned by the Group.

Wherever appropriate, the Group seeks to ensure borrowings and 
related payments are structured to provide an economic hedge, thereby 
minimising currency risk arising.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk relates primarily to the 
Group’s secured bank loans.  Interest rates on borrowings are on a 
variable rate basis.  The Group manages interest rate risk by entering 
into interest rate swaps to convert a portion of its exposure to changes 
in interest rate borrowings to a fixed rate basis. 

Equity risk

Equity price risk arises from available-for-sale assets and financial 
assets designated at fair value through profit or loss. Available-for-sale 
financial assets consist of investments in ordinary shares. Financial 
assets designated at fair value through profit or loss are units in 
investment vehicles that would otherwise be classified as available-
for-sale. The value of these investments held by the Group is not 
considered to result in any significant risk to the Group’s income. 

Further information on credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk is 
included at note 25.

Capital management

The Group aims to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain 
investor, creditor and market confidence and to sustain future 
development of the business.  The board of directors monitors the return 
on capital, the level of dividends paid and related dividend policy. The 
Group’s capital management policies are also monitored to ensure that 
they are within the requirements of the Group’s external debt facility. 

In accordance with the requirements of the Australian Securities and 
Investments Commission Australian Financial Services Licence, Certitude 
must ensure that at all times the value of its net tangible assets are 
maintained at an amount equal to not less than 0.5% of scheme 
property, up to a maximum of $5 million.  Certitude’s position is actively 
monitored to ensure compliance with this requirement.  The requirement 
was complied with throughout the year.

(B)	 OPERATIONAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss arising from a wide 
variety of causes associated with the Group’s processes, personnel, 
technology and infrastructure, and from external factors other than 
credit, market and liquidity risks such as those arising from legal and 
regulatory requirements and generally accepted standards of corporate 
behaviour. 

The Group’s objective is to manage operational risk so as to balance the 
avoidance of financial losses and damage to the Group’s reputation with 
overall cost effectiveness and to avoid control procedures that restrict 
initiative.

This objective is supported by the development of overall Group 
standards for the management of operational risk in the following areas:

•	 requirements for appropriate segregation of duties, including the 	
	 independent authorisation of transactions

•	 requirements for the reconciliation and monitoring of transactions

•	 compliance with regulatory and other legal requirements

•	 documentation of controls and procedures

•	 development of contingency plans

•	 training and professional development

•	 ethical and business standards

•	 risk mitigation, including insurance where this is effective.

6. OPERATING SEGMENTS 
The Group has two reportable segments, as described below, which 
are the Group’s strategic business units. The strategic business units 
are based on the Group’s two principal geographic locations, being 
Australia and the United States. For each of the strategic business 
units, the Group’s CEO and board of directors review internal 
management reports on a monthly basis. The following summary 
describes the operations in each of the Group’s reportable segments:

•	 Australia. Includes the Australian Certitude business, which acts  
	 as the Responsible Entity of schemes and other products which  
	 are provided to retail, wholesale and institutional investors  
	 throughout Australia. 

•	 United States. Includes the US based Lighthouse Group, which acts  
	 as a global absolute return funds manager for US and Cayman  
	 Island based funds. 

$485 million (2009: $629 million) of the Assets under Management 
which are managed by Certitude are invested in funds managed by the 
Lighthouse Group. This cross investment results in management fee 
rebates between the Australian and US operating segments. 

Information regarding the results of each reportable segment is 
included below. Performance is measured on segment results before 
foreign exchange losses on the intercompany loan (which eliminate on 
consolidation of the Group) as included in the internal management 
reports that are reviewed by the Group’s CEO and board of directors. 

Comparative segment information has been represented in conformity 
with the requirement of AASB 8 Operating Segments.
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Information about reportable segments 
2010 Reportable segments Reconciliation to consolidated totals

 
in thousands of AUD Australia

United 
States

Total 
reportable 
segments

Corporate 
/ service 
entities

Elimination 
entries

Consolidated 
totals

External revenue 17,038 55,538 72,576 - - 72,576

Inter-segment revenue - 2,945 2,945 - (2,945) -

Investment management costs (3,940) (10,961) (14,901) - 2,945 (11,956)

Net income from operating activities 13,098 47,522 60,620 - - 60,620

Other Income - 2 2 2 - 4

Expenses

Depreciation and amortisation expense - (11,046) (11,047) (189) - (11,235)

Other expenses (9,021) (23,761) (32,781) (1,374) - (34,156)

Results from operating activities before impairment 
expense and equity settled transactions 4,077 12,717 16,794 (1,561) - 15,233

Impairment (expense) / reversal - - - 24,812 (24,812) -

Equity settled transactions - (2,009) (2,009) (241) - (2,250)

Results from operating activities 4,077 10,708 14,785 23,010 (24,812) 12,983

Finance income / (costs)

Interest income on bank deposits 459 8 467 74 - 541

Net foreign exchange gain / (loss) - (26,824) (26,824) - 26,943 119

Interest expense (external) - (7,427) (7,427) (248) 585 (7,090)

Interest expense (internal) - (3,545) (3,545) 1,195 2,350 -

Other finance costs (2) (300) (302) 639 (585) (248)

Profit / (loss) before tax 4,534 (27,380) (22,846) 24,670 4,481 6,305

Profit / (loss) before tax (eliminating foreign currency 
movements on intercompany loan) 4,534 (439) 4,095 24,670 (22,460) 6,305

Income tax (expense) / benefit (1,360) (77) (1,437) (167) - (1,604)

Segment assets 20,939 198,646 219,585 124,174 (121,501) 222,258

Segment liabilities (3,318) (129,730) (133,048) (2,438) 1,631 (133,855)
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Information about reportable segments
2009 Reportable segments Reconciliation to consolidated totals

 
in thousands of AUD Australia

United 
States

Total 
reportable 
segments

Corporate 
/ service 
entities

Elimination 
entries

Consolidated 
totals

External revenue 36,140 76,715 112,855 - 112,855

Inter-segment revenue - 9,512 9,512 - (9,512) -

Investment management costs (10,807) (16,017) (26,824) - 9,512 (17,312)

Net income from operating activities 25,333 70,210 95,543 - - 95,543

Other Income 88 116 204 4 - 208

Expenses

Depreciation and amortisation expense (668) (13,393) (14,061) (255) - (14,316)

Other expenses (10,353) (29,447) (39,800) (3,519) - (43,319)

Results from operating activities before impairment 
expense and equity settled transactions 14,400 27,486 41,886 (3,770) - 38,116

Impairment (expense) / reversal (11,446) (585,621) (597,067) (435,156) 432,686 (599,537)

Equity settled transactions - (12,177) (12,177) (219) - (12,396)

Results from operating activities 2,954 (570,312) (567,358) (439,145) 432,686 (573,817)

Finance income / (costs)

Interest income on bank deposits 279 201 480 316 - 796

Dividend income on availbale-for-sale financial assets - - - 8 - 8

Net foreign exchange gain / (loss) - 45,654 45,654 110 (44,550) 1,214

Interest expense (external) - (7,196) (7,196) (530) 67 (7,659)

Interest expense (internal) - (19,965) (19,965) 15,161 4,804 -

Other finance costs (2) (1,170) (1,172) 233 (67) (1,006)

Profit / (loss) before tax 3,231 (552,788) (549,557) (423,847) 392,940 (580,464)

Profit / (loss) before tax (eliminating foreign currency 
movements on intercompany loan) 3,231 (597,338) (594,107) (423,847) 437,490 (580,464)

Income tax (expense) / benefit (969) (3,749) (4,718) (4,598) 16,596 7,280

Segment assets 17,915 220,610 238,525 103,850 (96,720) 245,655

Segment liabilities (3,595) (393,662) (397,257) (9,055) 243,125 (163,187)

MAJOR REVENUE SOURCE

9% (2009: 12%) and 50% (2009: 45%) of the Group’s total revenue relates to management and performance fees earned on the HFA Diversified 
Investments Fund and Lighthouse Diversified Fund respectively.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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in thousands of AUD		  2010 2009

(A) REVENUE

Management fee income 71,149 110,369

Performance fee income 1,252 844

Origination fees 175 1,642

Total revenue 72,576 112,855

(B) OTHER INCOME

Sundry income 4 208

Total other income 4 208

(C) EXPENSES

Personnel expenses1 (24,648) (31,584)

Professional fees (1,894) (2,920)

Depreciation (536) (804)

Amortisation intangible assets (10,699) (13,512)

Occupancy expenses (2,378) (2,987)

Marketing and promotion costs (81) (263)

Travel costs (1,198) (1,384)

Other expenses (3,957) (4,181)

Total expenses (45,391) (57,635)

(D) IMPAIRMENT LOSSES

Impairment losses - intangible assets - (596,119)

Impairment losses - financial assets - (3,418)

Total impairment losses - (599,537)

(E) EQUITY SETTLED TRANSACTIONS

Equity settled transactions (2,250) (12,396)

Total equity settled transactions (2,250) (12,396)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

7. REVENUE AND EXPENSES
 
Profit / (loss) before income tax expense includes the following specific revenues and expenses whose disclosure is relevant in explaining the 
performance of the Group:

1. includes consolidated contributions to defined contribution plans of $717 thousand (2009: $1,019 thousand).
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in thousands of AUD		  2010 2009

(A) RECOGNISED DIRECTLY IN PROFIT OR LOSS

Finance income

Interest income on bank deposits 541 796

Dividend and distribution income on available-for-sale financial assets - 8

Net foreign exchange gain 119 1,214

Total finance income 660 2,018

Finance costs

Interest expense on financial liabilities measured at amortised cost (7,090) (7,659)

Finance costs (135) (726)

Net change in fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (113) (280)

Total finance costs (7,338) (8,665)

Net finance costs recognised in profit or loss (6,678) (6,647)

(B) RECOGNISED DIRECTLY IN OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Foreign currency translation difference for foreign operations (3,187) 178,436

Effective portion of changes in fair value of cash flow hedges 2,096 (6,207)

Change in fair value of available-for-sale financial assets transferred to profit or loss 107 7

Income tax on income and expense recognised directly in equity (32) (24,094)

Finance income attributable to equity holders recognised 
directly in equity, net of tax (1,016) 148,142

Recognised in: 

Translation reserve (3,187) 153,206

Hedging reserve 2,096 (5,068)

Fair value reserve 75 4

1,016 148,142

8. FINANCE AND INCOME COSTS

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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(A) RECOGNISED IN THE INCOME STATEMENT

in thousands of AUD		  2010 2009

Current tax expense

Current year (1,422) (7,471)

Deferred tax expense

Origination and reversal of temporary differences 12,744 217,486

Tax losses for which no deferred tax was recognised (15,133) (15,295)

Change in unrecognised temporary differences 2,207 (187,440)

Income tax (expense) / benefit reported in income statement (1,604) 7,280

(B) INCOME TAX RECOGNISED IN OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

2010 2009

in thousands of AUD	

Before 
tax

Tax benefit 
(expense) 

Net of 
tax

Before 
tax

Tax benefit 
(expense)

Net of 
tax

Foreign currency translation difference for foreign operations (3,187) - (3,187) 178,436 (25,230) 153,206

Effective portion of changes in fair value of cash flow hedges 2,096 - 2,096 (6,207) 1,139 (5,068)

Change in fair value of available-for-sale financial assets 107 (32) 75 7 (3) 4

Income tax benefit / (expense) recognised in equity (984) (32) (1,016) 172,236 (24,094) 148,142

(C) RECONCILIATION OF EFFECTIVE TAX RATE

in thousands of AUD		  2010 2009

Accounting profit / (loss) before tax 6,305 (580,464)

Income tax using the domestic corporation tax rate of 30% (2009: 30%) (1,891) 174,139

Effect of tax rates in foreign jurisdictions* 3,383 42,771

Non-deductible expenses 1,176 (7,069)

Tax benefits not included in accounting profit (6,738) 131,853

Tax losses for which no deferred tax is recognised (15,133) (15,295)

Changes in unrecognised temporary differences 17,733 (319,293)

Under/(over) provided in prior periods (134) 174

Income tax (expense) / benefit on pre-tax net profit (1,604) 7,280

9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

* The Group’s US subsidiaries operate in a tax jurisdiction with higher tax rates. 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

(C) RECONCILIATION OF EFFECTIVE TAX RATE 

The Group’s consolidated effective tax rate for the year ended 30 
June 2010 was 25.4% (for the year ended 30 June 2009: 1.3%). The 
effective tax rate for the year ended 30 June 2010 was impacted by 
the following:

•	 Tax losses incurred for the financial year by the US Lighthouse 
Group, which have not been recognised as a deferred tax asset. 
In particular, the current financial year tax losses for the US  
Lighthouse Group include an interest expense in relation to 
the intercompany loan that existed between the parent entity, 
HFA  Holdings Limited, and its wholly-owned subsidiary, HFA 
Lighthouse Holdings Corp. No deferred tax asset has been 
recognised in relation to this interest expense, and hence no 
corresponding income tax benefit is included in the income 
statement.However, the equivalent interest income is assessable 
to the Australian tax consolidation group in the financial year 
ended 30 June 2010, resulting in an income tax expense in 
relation to the interest without an off-setting income tax benefit. 
The Group has determined that due to the current operating 
environment in the global financial markets it is not probable 
that sufficient taxable profits will be generated in the future to 
utilise the potential benefits associated with the carried forward 
operating losses. As such, the Group did not recognise the value 
of the potential benefit associated with these losses in the 
current period. 

10. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
 

in thousands of AUD	 2010 2009

Cash at bank 16,431 27,865

Call deposits 16,546 1,425

32,977 29,290

Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank 
deposit rates for the Australian cash deposits, and the Federated 
Government Obligations Fund for the US cash deposits.  

Call deposits includes $577 thousand of funds that are held in 
nominated accounts in relation to security deposits for the lease of 
office premises. 

The fair value of cash and cash equivalents is $32,977 thousand 
(2009: $29,290 thousand).

The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk and a sensitivity analysis 
for financial assets and liabilities is disclosed in note 25.

11. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 

in thousands of AUD	 2010 2009

Current

Receivables due from Group managed products 11,389 17,893

Other receivables and prepayments 1,428 1,498

12,817 19,391

Receivables comprise management fees, performance fees, and 
recoverable costs from Group managed products and are non-interest 
bearing and generally on 30 day terms.

Impairment of non-current receivables

During the 2009 year, $2,968 thousand of non-current receivables 
relating to the performance of Index Outperformance Call Options 
included in three of the Group’s structured products were impaired and 
written down to zero due to a decrease in the value of the options. This 
reduction in the carrying value of non-current receivables was recognised 
in “impairment losses” in the financial statements of the Group. 

There has been no further impairment of non-current receivables in the 
2010 year.  

The Group’s exposure to credit and currency risk and impairment losses 
related to trade and other receivables is disclosed in note 25.
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12. INVESTMENTS 
 

in thousands of AUD	 2010 2009

Non-current 

Available-for-sale financial assets 191 84

Financial assets designated at fair value 
through profit or loss 2,182 2,235

2,373 2,319

Available-for-sale financial assets consist of investments in ordinary 
shares (refer to note 29 for transactions with related parties).

The financial assets designated at fair value though profit or loss are 
units in investment vehicles that otherwise would have been classified 
as available-for-sale.

Impairment of available-for-sale financial assets

HFA Holdings Limited holds 562 thousand shares in Signature Capital 
Investments Limited (formerly HFA Accelerator Plus Limited) with a 
cost base of $534 thousand (95 cents per share). As at 30 June 2009, 
the fair value of these shares was $84 thousand (15 cents per share). 
As a result, the carrying value of this asset was assessed under the 
impairment provisions of AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition 
and Measurement. Due to the significant decline in the fair value of this 
investment, an impairment loss of $450 thousand was recognised and 
is included in “impairment losses” in the profit or loss of the Group for 
the year ended 30 June 2009. 

As at 30 June 2010, the fair value of these shares was $191 thousand 
(34 cents per share), therefore no further impairment loss has been 
recognised for the year ended 30 June 2010. The increase in the fair 
value has been recognised in a separate component of equity (refer note 
3(c)(i)).

The Group’s exposure to credit, liquidity and market rate risks related to 
other investments is disclosed in note 25.

13. TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
 
(A) CURRENT TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

The current tax asset for the Group of $500 thousand (2009: $307 
thousand) represents the amount of income taxes recoverable in 
respect of prior periods and that arise from the payment of tax in 
excess of the amounts due to the relevant tax authority. 

(B) RECOGNISED DEFERRED TAX ASSETS

Deferred tax assets are attributable to the following: 

in thousands of AUD		  2010 2009

Consolidated

Amortisation / depreciation 51 -

Available-for-sale financial assets (30) 2

Other receivables (5) -

Trade creditors 67 168

Employee benefits 149 235

Deferred revenue - -

Other provisions 61 91

Net tax assets / (liabilities) 293 496

(C) UNRECOGNISED DEFERRED TAX ASSETS

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the 
following items: 

in thousands of AUD		  2010 2009

Deductible temporary differences 275,758 293,202

Tax losses 29,746 15,295

305,504 308,497

These deferred tax assets arise as a result of impairment losses 
recognised in the prior year, and carried forward operating tax losses. 

These deferred tax assets have not been recognised on the basis 
that due to the current operating environment in the global financial 
markets, it is not probable that future taxable profit or capital gains 
will be available against which the Group can utilise these benefits.  
As such, the Group did not recognise the value of the potential benefit 
associated with these losses in the current period.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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in thousands of AUD
Furniture and 

equipment
Computer 

equipment 
Leasehold 

improvements Total

COST

Balance at 1 July 2008 1,096 1,185 962 3,243

Additions 8 123 31 162

Disposals (33) (83) (118) (234)

Effect of movement in exchange rates 175 127 83 385

Balance at 30 June 2009 1,246 1,352 958 3,556

Balance at 1 July 2009 1,246 1,352 958 3,556

Additions 201 283 41 525

Disposals (261) (38) (180) (479)

Effect of movement in exchange rates (56) (35) (33) (124)

Balance at 30 June 2010 1,130 1,562 786 3,478

DEPRECIATION 

Balance at 1 July 2008 (141) (574) (170) (885)

Depreciation charge for the year (235) (407) (162) (804)

Disposals 13 70 24 107

Effect of movement in exchange rate (1) (46) (34) (81)

Balance at 30 June 2009 (364) (957) (342) (1,663)

Balance at 1 July 2009 (364) (957) (342) (1,663)

Depreciation charge for the year (152) (268) (116) (536)

Disposals 177 34 70 281

Effect of movement in exchange rate 18 29 8 55

Balance at 30 June 2010 (321) (1,162) (380) (1,863)

CARRYING AMOUNTS

At 1 July 2008 955 611 792 2,358

At 30 June 2009 882 395 616 1,893

At 1 July 2009 882 395 616 1,893

At 30 June 2010 809 400 406 1,615

14. PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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in thousands of AUD Goodwill

Managment 
rights / customer 

relationships Trademarks Software Total

COST

Balance at 1 July 2008 520,946 88,203 1,974 831 611,954

Additions - - - - -

Written off - (34) - - (34)

Effect of movement in exchange rates 96,699 14,209 368 155 111,431

Balance at 30 June 2009 617,645 102,378 2,342 986 723,351

Balance at 1 July 2009 617,645 102,378 2,342 986 723,351

Additions - - - - -

Written off - - - - -

Effect of movement in exchange rates (29,542) (4,341) (113) (47) (34,043)

Balance at 30 June 2010 588,103 98,037 2,229 939 689,308

AMORTISATION AND IMPAIRMENT LOSSES

Balance at 1 July 2008 - (7,535) (49) (84) (7,668)

Amortisation for the year - (13,165) (129) (218) (13,512)

Impairment losses (587,640) (8,479) - - (596,119)

Effect of movement in exchange rate 85,598 301 2 6 85,907

Balance at 30 June 2009 (502,042) (28,878) (176) (296) (531,392)

Balance at 1 July 2009 (502,042) (28,878) (176) (296) (531,392)

Amortisation for the year - (10,410) (107) (182) (10,699)

Impairment losses - - - - -

Effect of movement in exchange rate 23,995 459 4 8 24,466

Balance at 30 June 2010 (478,047) (38,829) (279) (470) (517,625)

CARRYING AMOUNTS

At 1 July 2008 520,946 80,668 1,925 747 604,286

At 30 June 2009 115,603 73,500 2,166 690 191,959

At 1 July 2009 115,603 73,500 2,166 690 191,959

At 30 June 2010 110,056 59,208 1,950 469 171,683

15. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The recoverable amount of goodwill and intangible assets is calculated as 
the present value of the estimated future cash flows, discounted using a 
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time 
value of money and the risks specific to those assets.

For goodwill, intangible assets with an indefinite life and intangible 
assets that are not yet available for use an impairment test is carried 
out annually. Other intangible assets are tested for impairment when an 
impairment indicator exists (see note 3(g)).

For the purpose of impairment testing, intangible assets are allocated to 
the following cash generating units: 

in thousands of AUD	

2010
Carrying
amount

2009
Carrying
amount

Australian based funds management

Goodwill - -

Management rights - -

US based funds management

Goodwill 110,056 115,603

Management rights/customer relationships 59,208 73,500

Trademarks 1,950 2,166

Software 469 690

171,683 191,959

A) 30 JUNE 2010 IMPAIRMENT TESTING

Australian based funds management cash generating unit 
(AUS CGU)

As noted in the table above, the 30 June 2010 carrying value for 
intangible assets allocated to the AUS CGU was $Nil. Therefore no further 
impairment testing for the AUS CGU was carried out as at 30 June 2010.

US based funds management cash generating unit (US CGU)

Impairment testing carried out on the US CGU as at 30 June 2010 did not 
result in the recognition of any additional impairment losses.

The recoverable amount of the US CGU was determined based on a value 
in use calculation. 

To calculate this, cash flow projections were based on the financial 
budget for the US business agreed by the executive directors for the 2011 

to 2013 financial years. Forecasts for 2014 and 2015 were based on 
revenue growth that was broadly consistent with the approved growth 
rates for the 2011 to 2013 period and normalised cost percentages.

A long term growth rate of 4.4% was used in the terminal value 
component of the calculation. This rate was based on a 2.4% CPI long 
term forecast plus 2.0% for real GDP as sourced from the Economist 
Intelligence Unit, and is consistent with the growth assumption applied by 
many US companies when performing impairment tests.

These cash flow projections were then discounted using the pre-tax 
discount rate of 15.3%.

B)	 IMPAIRMENT TESTING FOR THE YEAR ENDED 
	 30 JUNE 2009

The GFC, particularly following the collapse of Lehman Brothers 
investment bank in September 2008, created one of the most difficult 
operating environments for fund managers in history. The severity 
and swiftness of the crisis, and the resultant distress in credit and 
capital markets around the world meant that the absolute funds sector 
experienced investment losses and significant net fund outflows.

The Group assessed the carrying value of goodwill and intangible assets 
as at 31 December 2008 due to the reduction in the Group’s AUM and 
the expectation that these conditions would continue in the short term 
before fund flows and performance returned to normal levels. 

Australian based funds management cash generating unit 
(AUS CGU)

As a result of the testing carried out on the AUS CGU during the year 
ended 30 June 2009, the carrying amount of management rights and 
goodwill allocated to this CGU was determined to be higher than its 
recoverable amount, and an impairment loss of $10,498 thousand was 
recognised and is included in “impairment losses” for that period.

The recoverable amount of the AUS CGU was determined based on a 
value in use calculation. 

To calculate this, cash flow projections were based on the financial 
budget for the Australian business approved by the board of directors for 
the 2009 to 2012 financial years. Forecasts for 2013 were based on levels 
consistent with 2012. A terminal value was calculated using a growth 
rate of 0%.

These cash flow projections were then discounted using the pre-tax 
discount rate of 20.2%.

US based funds management cash generating unit (US CGU).

As a result of the testing carried out on the US CGU during the year 
ended 30 June 2009, the aggregate carrying amount of assets allocated 
to this CGU was determined to be higher than its recoverable amount, 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

and an impairment loss of $585,621 thousand was recognised and is 
included in “impairment losses” for that period. The impairment loss 
was allocated fully against goodwill.

This loss reflects significantly lower than expected future cash flows 
from the US operations compared to the business at the time of 
acquisition.

The recoverable amount of the US CGU was determined based on a 
value in use calculation. 

To calculate this, cash flow projections are based on the financial 
budget for the US business approved by the board of directors for 
the 2009 to 2012 financial years. Forecasts for 2013 were based on 
revenue growth that was broadly consistent with the approved growth 
rates for 2011 and 2012 and normalised cost percentages.

A long term growth rate of 3.5% was used in the terminal value 
component of the calculation. This rate was based on a 2.1% CPI long 
term forecast plus 1.4% for real GDP as sourced from the Economist 
Intelligence Unit, and is consistent with the growth assumption applied 
by many US companies when performing impairment tests.

These cash flow projections were then discounted using the pre-tax 
discount rate of 16.6%.

 16. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

in thousands of AUD	 2010 2009

Current

Trade creditors 1,716 1,859

Other creditors and accruals 5,536 7,435

Total trade and other payables 7,252 9,294

Trade creditors are non-interest bearing and normally settled on 30 day 
terms. The Group’s exposure to currency and liquidity risk related to 
trade and other payables is disclosed in note 25.

17. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 

in thousands of AUD	 2010 2009

Current

Salaries and wages accrued 4,037 4,704

Liability for annual leave 362 599

Total employee benefits – current 4,399 5,303

Non-current

Liability for long service leave 172 217

Total employee benefits – non-current 172 217

18. DERIVATIVES

in thousands of AUD	 2010 2009

Current

Derivatives used for hedging 1,359 -

Non-current

Derivatives used for hedging - 3,455

Total derivatives 1,359 3,455

Derivatives used for hedging relate to interest rate swaps used to 
hedge the Group’s exposure to interest rate risk. The fair value of these 
derivatives is based on valuations received from the interest rate swap 
provider. 
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19. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

2008 HFA EMPLOYEE PERFORMANCE RIGHTS PLAN

An offer of rights to issued shares in the Company was made to employees of HFA’s Australian business on 12 March 2008. The board approved the 
allocation of 3,955,000 performance rights to employees.

No consideration is payable by employees upon the issue of performance rights or in respect of the shares to be issued upon the exercise of the 
performance rights.  Vesting conditions must be satisfied for the exercise of the performance rights.

Vesting of the performance rights is in tranches of 25%, 35% and 40% with respective vesting dates of 31 December 2008, 31 December 2009 and 31 
December 2010.  Vesting conditions include being employed by the Group at the relevant vesting date and meeting of performance hurdles for the Group 
relating to assets under management, base revenue (excluding performance fees) and EBITDA. 

The HFA Holdings Limited board retains the ability to permit vesting in circumstances where hurdle thresholds are not met but commercial circumstances 
warrant limited or full vesting.

Details of the performance rights granted are as follows:

in thousands of AUD	

Total number of 
rights granted

Grant date Fair value at 
grant date 

 
$

Expiry date Financial year in 
which grant vests

Tranche 1 988,750 12/03/2008 0.9950 31/12/2009 2009

Tranche 2 1,384,250 12/03/2008 0.9196 31/12/2010 2010

Tranche 3 1,582,000 12/03/2008 0.8499 31/12/2011 2011

 
The following is a reconciliation of performance rights outstanding under the 2008 HFA Employee Performance Rights Plan:

Number of shares

Outstanding at 1 July 2008 3,955,000

Forfeited during the period (953,750)

Issued during the period in relation to Tranche 1 (901,250)

Outstanding at 30 June 2009 2,100,000

Outstanding at 1 July 2009 2,100,000

Forfeited during the period (1,330,750)

Issued during the period in relation to Tranche 2 (299,250)

Outstanding at 30 June 2010 470,000

Tranche 1 of the performance rights plan vested at 31 December 2008, with 100% of the shares (901,250 shares) available under the tranche for eligible 
employees being issued at the discretion of the board. The non-cash expense recognised in relation to Tranche 1 for the year ended 30 June 2009 totalled 
$219 thousand.

Tranche 2 of the performance rights plan vested at 31 December 2009, with 30% of the shares (299,250) available under the tranche for eligible 
employees being issued due to the satisfaction of the base revenue performance hurdle.  The board did not exercise its discretion to vest any additional 
shares under Tranche 2.  The non-cash expense recognised in relation to Tranche 2 for the year ended 30 June 2010 totalled $241 thousand.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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The fair value of performance rights is calculated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model adjusted for dividends and is allocated to reporting 
periods evenly over the period from grant date to vesting date after estimating probabilities of vesting.  

The following factors and assumptions were used in determining the fair value of the rights at grant date:

in thousands of AUD	

Grant date Life of right 
granted

Exercise
price

 
$

Share price at 
grant date 

 
$

Risk free 
interest rate

Dividend 
yield

Fair value per 
right at grant 

date
$

Tranche 1 12/03/08 1.8 years - 1.06 6.630% 8.2% 0.9950

Tranche 2 12/03/08 2.8 years - 1.06 6.323% 8.2% 0.9196

Tranche 3 12/03/08 3.8 years - 1.06 6.190% 8.2% 0.8499

LIGHTHOUSE INVESTMENT PARTNERS INCENTIVE COMPENSATION PLAN 

An incentive plan for employees of Lighthouse Investment Partners, LLC was established by SGM Holdings, LLC on 1 July 2008.  SGM Holdings, LLC is 
a related entity of executive director Sean McGould and is not part of the HFA Holdings Limited Group.  Grants made under the plan will be funded by 
SGM Holdings, LLC not the HFA Holdings Limited Group.  However, as SGM Holdings, LLC is shareholders of HFA Holdings Limited, accounting standards 
require that the Company recognise an expense associated with the shares granted under the plan with a corresponding increase in the Company’s 
equity to recognise the contribution by SGM Holdings, LLC as a shareholder.

The incentive plan grants participants an opportunity to earn a payment of cash or receive ordinary shares of HFA Holdings Limited. 100% of the shares 
available under the plan were transferred to eligible employees during the year ended 30 June 2009 (9,904,925 shares), with the non-cash expense 
recognised by the Group for that year totalling $12,177 thousand. 

The fair value of ordinary shares available under the plan is calculated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model adjusted for dividends and is 
allocated to reporting periods evenly over the period from grant date to vesting date after estimating probabilities of vesting.  

The following factors and assumptions were used in determining the fair value of the rights at grant date:

in thousands of AUD	

Grant date Life of right 
granted

Exercise
price

 
$

Share price at 
grant date 

 
$

Risk free 
interest rate

Dividend 
yield

Fair value per 
right at grant 

date
$

Tranche 1 01/07/2008 0.5 years - 1.09 6.947% 8.0% 1.0489

Tranche 2 01/07/2008 1.5 years - 1.09 6.849% 8.0% 0.9712

Tranche 3 01/07/2008 2.5 years - 1.09 6.748% 8.0% 0.8992

LIGHTHOUSE INVESTMENT PARTNERS SHORT TERM INCENTIVE PLAN

Employees of Lighthouse Investment Partners, LLC are entitled to participate in a short term incentive (STI) plan which is based on the performance of the 
Lighthouse Group.

For the year ended 31 December 2009, Lighthouse employees were granted shares in HFA Holdings Limited in partial settlement of their bonus 
entitlements. No consideration was payable by employees upon issue of the shares.  The total number of HFA Holdings Limited shares issued to 
Lighthouse employees under this incentive plan was 8,547,009.

The fair value of the ordinary shares granted under the plan was based on the market value of the shares on the 31 December 2010 grant date. The non-
cash expense recognised by the Group in relation to this plan for the year ended 30 June 2010 was $2,009 thousand (2009: $Nil). 
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20. LOANS AND BORROWINGS

in thousands of AUD		  2010 2009

Current

Bank loan – secured

Facility A – USD 10,322 5,885

Facility B – AUD - 1,994

Total current loans and borrowings 10,322 7,879

Non-current

Bank loan – secured

Facility A – USD 109,293 132,247

Facility B – AUD 1,058 4,792

Total non-current loans and borrowings 110,351 137,039

Total loans and borrowings 120,673 144,918

Current loans and borrowings are the portion of bank loans expected to be paid within one year.

TERMS AND DEBT REPAYMENT SCHEDULE

The terms and conditions of the outstanding loans as at 30 June 2010 were as follows:

in thousands of AUD
Nominal 

interest rate
Date of 

maturity
Face value Carrying 

amount
Face value Carrying 

amount

2010 2009

Facility A LIBOR + 2.25% 1/11/ 2011 120,116 119,615 139,357 138,132

Facility B BBSY + 2.25% 1/11/ 2011 1,087 1,058 6,899 6,786

Total loans and borrowings 121,203 120,673 146,256 144,918

FINANCING ARRANGEMENTS

Bank loans comprise of the following facilities available under a Cash Advance Facilities Agreement (“CAFA”) with Westpac Banking Corporation:

•	 Facility A (USD Lighthouse Group Acquisition Facility)

•	 Facility B (AUD Working Capital Facility).

Both facilities are secured by first ranking fixed and floating charges and mortgages over all the assets and undertakings of HFA Holdings Limited 
and Admin Pty Ltd in favour of Westpac, with US Charges granted by HFA Lighthouse Holdings Corp, HFA Lighthouse Corp, LHP Investments, LLC and 
Lighthouse Investment Partners, LLC in favour of Westpac and Deposit Account Control Agreements granted by LHP Investments LLC and Lighthouse 
Investment Partners LLC in favour of Westpac.  The facilities mature in November 2011. 
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HFA Holdings Limited, Admin Pty Ltd, Certitude Global Investments Limited, HFA Lighthouse Holdings Corp and HFA Lighthouse Corp guarantee 
the obligations of HFA Holdings Limited and HFA Lighthouse Holdings Corp (“the Borrowers”).  The Borrowers and guarantors also provide a cross 
guarantee in relation to these obligations and any new or acquired HFA subsidiary must also provide a guarantee and first ranking security over its 
assets.  The CAFA contains representations, warranties, undertakings and events of default of a type usual for a debt facility of this kind and having 
regard to the nature of HFA’s business. Undertakings include obligations to comply with applicable laws, carry on business in a proper and efficient 
manner, ensure that no event of default occurs and insure all secured property. 

Financial undertakings include that HFA and its related entities will ensure that:

•	 EBITDA for each period is always at least 1.5 times greater than the interest expense for the same period; and

•	 Assets under management of the Consolidated Group are not less than USD 2.6 billion.

The financial undertakings are tested quarterly, based on the preceding 12 months. 

The Group’s exposure to currency and interest rate risk related to loans and borrowings is disclosed in note 25. 

Bank loans are denominated in both Australian dollars and US dollars. The bank loan amounts in current liabilities comprises the portion of the 
Group’s bank loans payable and the expected amount to be paid within one year (2010: $10,322 thousand) (2009: $7,879 thousand).

21. CAPITAL AND RESERVES 

MOVEMENT IN ORDINARY SHARES ON ISSUE

in thousands of shares 2010 2009

Balance at beginning of financial year 460,484 459,583

Exercise of performance rights - 6 March 2009 - 901

Shares issued under the Lighthouse Investment Partners Short Term Incentive Plan - 9 February 2010 8,547 -

Exercise of performance rights - 11 February 2010 299 -

Balance at end of financial year 469,330 460,484

The Company does not have authorised capital or par value in respect of issued shares. 

Ordinary shares have the right to receive dividends as declared and, in the event of winding up HFA, to participate in the proceeds from the sale of all 
surplus assets in proportion to the number of and amounts paid up on shares held. Ordinary shares entitle their holder to one vote, either in person or 
by proxy, at a meeting of HFA. 

Tranche 1 of the performance rights plan vested at 31 December 2008, with 100% of the shares (901,250 shares) available under the tranche for 
eligible employees being issued at the discretion of the board. 

Tranche 2 of the performance rights plan vested at 31 December 2009, with 30% of the shares (299,250 shares) available under the tranche for 
eligible employees being issued due to the satisfaction of the base revenue performance hurdle.  The board did not exercise its discretion to vest any 
additional shares under Tranche 2.  

For the year ended 31 December 2009, Lighthouse employees were granted shares in HFA Holdings Limited in partial settlement of their bonus 
entitlements under the Lighthouse Investment Partners Short Term Incentive Plan. The total number of HFA Holdings Limited shares issued to 
Lighthouse employees under this incentive plan was 8,547,009.
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NATURE AND PURPOSE OF RESERVES

in thousands of AUD 2010 2009

Fair value reserve 75 -

Translation reserve 114,255 117,442

Hedging reserve (1,359) (3,455)

112,971 113,987

Fair value reserve

The fair value reserve comprises the cumulative net change in the fair value of available-for-sale financial assets until the investment is derecognised or 
impaired. 
 
Translation reserve

The translation reserve comprises all foreign currency differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign operations. 
 

Hedging reserve

The hedging reserve comprises the effective portion of the cumulative net change in the fair value of cash flow hedging instruments related to hedged 
transactions that have not yet occurred. 
 
Dividends 

Dividends recognised in the current year by the Group are: 
 

Declared and paid  during the 2010 financial year
Cents per  

share
Total amount 

$000's
Franked / 

unfranked
Date of 

payment

Final 2009 ordinary - - - N/A

Interim 2010 ordinary - - - N/A

Total amount -

Declared and paid  during the 2009 financial year

Final 2008 ordinary 3.5 16,085 Franked 26 September 2008

Interim 2009 ordinary - - - N/A

Total amount 16,085

Franked dividends declared and paid during the 2009 year were fully franked at the tax rate of 30%.

The directors have at the date of this report declared that no final dividend will be paid for the financial year ended 30 June 2010.

DIVIDEND FRANKING ACCOUNT

Company

in thousands of AUD 2010 2009

30% franking credits available to shareholders of HFA Holdings Limited for subsequent financial years. 11,213 10,140

The above available amounts are now based on the balance of the dividend franking account at year-end adjusted for franking credits that will arise from 
the payment of current tax liabilities. In accordance with the tax consolidation legislation, the Company as the head entity in the tax-consolidated group 
has also assumed the benefit of $11,213 thousand (2009: $10,140 thousand) franking credits. 
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22. EARNINGS PER SHARE 

The calculation of basic earnings per share and diluted earnings per share at 30 June 2010 was based on profit attributable to ordinary shareholders 
of $4,701 thousand (2009: loss of $573,184 thousand) and a weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year 
ended 30 June 2010 of 463,900 thousand and 464,085 thousand respectively (2009: 459,869 thousand and 460,484 respectively), calculated as 
follows:

in thousands of AUD Note 2010 2009

Earnings from operations used in calculating basic earnings per share 4,701 (573,184)

Earnings from operations used in calculating diluted earnings per share 4,701 (573,184)

Weighted average number of shares issued

Issued ordinary shares at 1 July 21 460,484 459,583

Effect of shares issued 6 March 2009 286

Effect of shares issued 9 February 2010 3,302 -

Effect of shares issued 11 February 2010 114 -

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating 
basic earnings per share 463,900 459,869

Effect of performance rights issued 12 March 2008 185 615

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating 
diluted earnings per share 464,085 460,484

Cents Per Share 2010 2009

Basic earnings per share 1.013 (124.641)

Diluted earnings per share 1.013 (124.474)

On 11 February 2010 and 6 March 2009 the Company issued 299,250 and 901,250 shares respectively for no consideration in relation to the 2008 
Employee Performance Rights Plan offered to employees on 12 March 2008.

On 9 February 2010 the Company issued 8,547,009 shares for no consideration in relation to the Lighthouse Investment Partners Short Term Incentive 
Plan for the twelve months ended 31 December 2009.

There have been no other transactions involving ordinary shares or potential ordinary shares since the reporting date and before the completion of 
these financial statements.
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23. PARENT ENTITY DISCLOSURES 

As at, and throughout the financial year ended 30 June 2010, the parent company of the Group was HFA Holdings Limited. 

         Company

in thousands of AUD 2010 2009

Result of the parent entity

Profit / (loss) for the period 24,577 (422,877)

Other comprehensive income 75 4

Total comprehensive income for the period 24,652 (422,873)

Financial position of the parent at year end

Current assets 2,496 6,747

Total assets 122,618 102,032

Current liabilities (411) (2,454)

Total liabilities (1,514) (7,831)

Total equity of the parent comprising of:

Share capital 504,730 504,730

Fair value reserve 75 -

Retained earnings (383,701) (410,529)

Total equity 121,104 94,201

PARENT ENTITY CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

GST and current tax liabilities of other entities within the Australian GST group are transferred to the parent entity and are included in the current 
liabilities disclosed above. 

Please refer to note 27 for comments regarding contingent liabilities. 

PARENT ENTITY GUARANTEES IN RESPECT OF DEBTS OF ITS SUBSIDIARIES

The parent entity has entered into a deed of cross guarantee with the effect that the Company guarantees the bank loan facility held by subsidiary HFA 
Lighthouse Holdings Corp under the Cash Advance Facilities Agreement with Westpac Banking Corporation. 

Further details of the deed of cross guarantee and the subsidiaries subject to the deed, are disclosed at note 20. 
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 24. RECONCILIATION OF CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

in thousands of AUD Note 2010 2009

Cash flows from operating activities

Net profit/(loss) for the period (after tax) 4,701 (573,184)

Adjustments for:

Depreciation expense 7 (c) 536 804

Impairment losses 7 (d) - 599,537

Amortisation of intangible assets 7 (c) 10,699 13,512

Interest expense on financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 8 (a) 7,090 7,659

Net loss on disposal of plant & equipment 199 127

Finance costs 8 (a) 135 726

Equity-settled transactions  7 (e) 2,250 12,396

Income tax expense/(benefit) 76 (17,211)

Profit on disposal of written off investment (310) -

Fair value gain/(loss) on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 8 (a) 113 280

Foreign currency (gain) / loss (471) 113

Operating cash flow before changes in working capital and provisions 25, 018 44,759

(Increase)/decrease in receivables 6,223 5,235

(Increase)/decrease in other assets 22 (174)

Increase/(decrease) in payables (1,129) (2,116)

Increase/(decrease) in provisions and employee benefits (736) (3,696)

Increase/(decrease) in deferred income - (1,467)

Net cash from operating activities 29,398 42,541
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25. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

Exposure to credit, liquidity, currency, equity price and interest rate risk arises in the normal course of the Group’s business.  

CREDIT RISK

Exposure to credit risk

The carrying amount of the Group’s financial assets at reporting date represents the maximum credit exposure:  

in thousands of AUD Note

Carrying 
amount 

2010

Carrying 
amount 

2009

Cash and cash equivalents 10 32,977 29,290

Trade and other receivables 11 12,817 19,391

Available-for-sale financial assets 12 191 84

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 12 2,182 2,235

Total financial assets 48,167 51,000

The Group’s exposure to credit risk for trade and other receivables predominantly relates to management fees, performance fees and other related fees 
from products managed by the Group. At reporting date, 89% of the Group’s loans and receivables related to management fees, performance fees 
and other related fees owing from products managed by the Group (2009: 92%); 47% of receivables relate to the Lighthouse Diversified Fund and 
Lighthouse Global Long Short Fund (2009: 43%).

With respect to credit risk arising from the other financial assets of the Group, which comprise cash and cash equivalents, available-for-sale financial 
assets, financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and interest rate swaps used for hedging, the Group’s exposure to credit risk arises from default 
of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amount of these instruments.

Impairment losses

Based on historic default rates, the Group believes that no impairment allowance is necessary in respect of trade receivables. 96% of the trade 
receivables balance is not past due (2009: 94%). Payment for the 4% of trade receivables past due was received on 9 July 2010. 

Impairment of non-current receivables

The movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of non-current loans and receivables during the year was as follows:

in thousands of AUD 2010 2009

Balance at 1 July 2,968 -

Impairment loss recognised - 2,968

Balance as at 30 June 2,968 2,968

During the 2009 year, $2,968 thousand of non-current receivables relating to the performance of Index Outperformance Call Options included in three 
of the Group’s structured products were impaired and written down to zero due to a decrease in the value of the options. This reduction in the carrying 
value of non-current receivables was recognised in “impairment losses” in the financial statements of the Group. 

There has been no further impairment of non-current receivables in the 2010 year.  
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Impairment of available-for-sale financial assets

The movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of available-for-sale investments during the year was as follows:

in thousands of AUD 2010 2009

Balance at 1 July 450 -

Impairment loss recognised - 450

Balance at 30 June 450 450

HFA Holdings Limited holds 562 thousand shares in Signature Capital Investments Limited (formerly HFA Accelerator Plus Limited) with a cost base 
of $534 thousand (approximately 95 cents per share). As at 30 June 2009, the fair value of these shares was $84 thousand (15 cents per share). 
As a result, the carrying value of this asset was assessed under the impairment provisions of AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement. Due to the significant decline in the fair value of this investment, an impairment loss of $450 thousand was recognised and is included 
in “impairment losses” in the profit or loss of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2009. 

As at 30 June 2010, the fair value of these shares was $191 thousand (0.34 cents per share), therefore no further impairment loss has been 
recognised for the year ended 30 June 2010. The increase in the fair value has been recognised in a separate component of equity (refer note 3(c)(i)).

LIQUIDITY RISK

The Group’s debt facilities will mature in November 2011. 

The following are the contractual maturities of non-derivative financial liabilities, including estimated interest payments and excluding the impact of 
netting agreements:

 2010

in thousands of AUD Note
Fair 

Value
6 months 

or less
6-12 

months
1-2 

years
2-5 

years
More than 

5 years

Non derivative financial liabilities:

Loans and borrowings 20 121,203 (8,923) (4,495) (113,862) - -

Trade and other payables 16 7,252 (7,252) - - - -

128,455 (16,175) (4,495) (113,862) - -

 2009

in thousands of AUD Note
Fair 

Value
6 months 

or less
6-12 

months
1-2 

years
2-5 

years
More than 

5 years

Non derivative financial liabilities:

Loans and borrowings 20 146,256 (4,340) (10,320) (11,384) (130,935) -

Trade and other payables 16 9,294 (9,294) - - - -

155,550 (13,634) (10,320) (11,384) (130,935) -
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The following table indicates the period in which the cash flows associated with derivatives that are cash flow hedges are expected to occur and when 
they are expected to impact profit or loss:

2010

in thousands of AUD Note
Fair 

Value
6 months 

or less
6-12 

months
1-2 

years
2-5 

years
More than 

5 years

Interest rate swaps:

Liabilities 18 1,359 (1,459) - - - -

1,359 (1,459) - - - -

2009

in thousands of AUD Note
Fair 

Value
6 months 

or less
6-12 

months
1-2 

years
2-5 

years
More than 

5 years

Interest rate swaps:

Liabilities 18 3,455 (1,240) (1,428) (1,640) - -

3,455 (1,240) (1,428) (1,640) - -

CURRENCY RISK

The Group is exposed to currency risk as at reporting date in respect of AUD receivables held by the Lighthouse Group, which has a functional currency of 
USD. The value of receivables held at balance date was $695 thousand (2009: $617 thousand).

The following significant exchange rates applied during the year:

2010 2009

Average Rate Reporting date spot rate Average Rate Reporting date spot rate

AUD: USD 0.8830 0.8523 0.7456 0.8114

Sensitivity analysis

A 10% appreciation (depreciation) in the Australian dollar against the US dollar at 30 June 2010 would have increased (decreased) the Group’s profit or 
loss by $45 thousand (2009: $40 thousand). This analysis assumes that all other variables remain constant.  
 

EQUITY PRICE RISK

An analysis of financial assets which are exposed to equity price risk fluctuations in fair value includes the following:

in thousands of AUD Note

Carrying 
amount 

2010

Carrying 
amount 

2009

Available-for-sale financial assets 12 191 84

Financial assets designated as fair value through profit or loss 12 2,182 2,235

2,373 2,319
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Sensitivity analysis 

Available-for-sale financial assets

A 10% increase (decrease) in equity prices would have increased (decreased) the fair value of available-for-sale financial assets by $13 thousand 
(2009: $6 thousand). The equity value of the Group would have been affected by a corresponding amount.

Financial assets designated as fair value through profit or loss

A 10% increase in the fair value of investments at reporting date would have increased the Group’s profit by $129 thousand (2009: $121 thousand). 
A 10% decrease would have decreased the Group’s profit by $129 thousand (2009: $138 thousand). 

INTEREST RATE RISK

The Group’s exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s secured bank loans, cash deposits and interest rate 
swaps. 

The interest rate profile of financial liabilities is detailed in note 20. All interest rates on borrowings are on a variable rate basis.  The Group manages 
interest rate risk on its USD denominated borrowing by entering into fixed rate interest rate swaps.

At reporting date the Group’s interest bearing financial instruments were:

in thousands of AUD Note

Carrying  
amount 

2010

Carrying  
amount 

2009

Fixed rate instruments

Interest rate swap liabilities 18 (1,359) (3,455)

Variable rate instruments

Cash and cash equivalents 10 32,977 29,290

Loans and borrowings 20 (120,673) (144,918)

Fair value sensitivity analysis for fixed rate instruments

The Group does not account for any fixed rate financial assets or liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. Interest rate swaps are designated as 
effective cash flow hedges, with movements in fair value being accounted for through equity. Therefore a change in interest rates at the reporting date 
would not affect profit or loss.

A change of 100 basis points in interest rates would have increased (decreased) the Group’s equity by $186 thousand (2009: $1,087 thousand). 

Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments 

A change in interest rates at reporting date would not have impacted the carrying value of the Group’s variable rate instruments, and would therefore 
not have had an impact on the Group’s equity or profit or loss. 

FAIR VALUES

The carrying values of financial assets and liabilities approximate their fair values.
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FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY

The table below analyses financial instruments carried at fair value, by valuation method.  The different levels have been defined as follows:

Level 1:   quotes prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2:   inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e., as prices) 
	        or indirectly (i.e., derived from prices)

Level 3:   inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs)

in thousands of AUD	 Note Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

2010

Available-for-sale financial assets 12 191 - - 191

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 12 - 2,182 - 2,182

Derivative financial liabilities 18 - (1,359) - (1,359)

191 823 - 1,014

2009

Available-for-sale financial assets 12 84 - - 84

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 12 - 2,235 - 2,235

Derivative financial liabilities 18 - (3,445) - (3,445)

84 (1,210) - (1,126)

 
26. COMMITMENTS 

OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

The Group has entered into commercial leases on office equipment and premises where it is not in the best interest of the Group to 
purchase these assets.

These leases have an average life of between 1 and 8 years with renewal terms included in the contracts. Renewals are at the option 
of the specific entity that holds the lease.

Future minimum rentals payable under non-cancellable operating leases as at 30 June are as follows:

in thousands of AUD		  2010 2009

Within one year 1,574 1,603

After one year but not more than five years 4,177 3,526

More than five years 2,395 263

8,146 5,392
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29. RELATED PARTIES 

REMUNERATION OF KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL

The key management personnel compensation included in “personnel 
expenses” and “equity settled transactions” (see note 7) is as follows:

in AUD		  2010 2009

Short-term employee benefits 3,846,450 6,667,447

Post employment benefits 130,167 214,074

Termination benefits 325,000 113,771

Share-based payments 893,288 171,366

5,194,905 7,166,658

INDIVIDUAL DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVES 
COMPENSATION DISCLOSURES

Information regarding individual directors and executives’ 
compensation and some equity instruments disclosures as required 
by Corporations Regulation 2M.3.03 is provided in the remuneration 
report section of the directors’ report.

Apart from the details disclosed in this note, no director has entered 
into a material contract with the Group since the end of the previous 
financial year and there were no material contracts involving directors’ 
interests existing at year-end.

27. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 

LITIGATION

The Group is defending an action bought against it by a former 
employee as a result of an employee share offer at the time of the initial 
public offering.

The Group strongly denies any liability or wrongdoing. The directors do 
not expect the outcome of the action to have a material effect on the 
Group’s financial position.

In the directors’ opinion, disclosure of any further information would be 
prejudicial to the interest of the Group. 

 

28. AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION 

in AUD		  2010 2009

Audit services: 
Auditors of the compnany

KPMG Australia:

Audit and review of financial reports 123,200 183,750

Overseas KPMG Firm:

Audit and review of financial reports 135,900 189,780

259,100 373,530

Services other than statutory audit: 
Auditors of the company

KPMG Australia:

Other assurance services 12,900 24,480

Taxation services 137,912 123,902

Other advisory services 9,000 10,000

159,812 158,382
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OPTIONS AND RIGHTS OVER EQUITY INSTRUMENTS

The movement during the reporting period in the number of performance rights over ordinary shares in the Company held directly, indirectly or 
beneficially, by each key management person, including their related parties, is as follows:

2010

Balance 
1 July 2009

Granted as 
compensation

Vested during 
the year

Other 
changes*

Balance 
30 June 2010

Directors

Mr Spencer Young - - - - -

Mr Sean McGould - - - - -

Mr F P (Andy) Esteban - - - - -

Mr John Larum - - - - -

Mr Michael Shepherd - - - - -

Executives

Mr Craig Mowll - - - - -

Ms Amber Stoney 150,000 - (21,000) (49,000) 80,000

Mr Oscar Martinis 337,500 - (47,250) (290,250) -

Mr Robert White 337,500 - (47,250) (290,250) -

Mr Jonathan Pain 187,500 - - (187,500) -

Mr Scott Perkins - - - - -

Mr Kelly Perkins - - - - -

Mr Robert Swan - - - - -

2009	

Balance 
1 July 2008

Granted as 
compensation

Vested during 
the year

Other 
changes*

Balance 
30 June 2009

Directors

Mr Spencer Young - - - - -

Mr Sean McGould - - - - -

Mr F P (Andy) Esteban - - - - -

Mr John Larum - - - - -

Mr Brett Howard - - - - -

Mr Robert Fraser - - - - -

Executives - - - - -

Ms Amber Stoney 200,000 - (50,000) - 150,000

Mr Oscar Martinis 450,000 - (112,500) - 337,500

Mr Robert White 450,000 - (112,500) - 337,500

Mr Jonathan Pain 250,000 - (62,500) - 187,500

Mr Rodney Hughes 200,000 - (50,000) (150,000) -

Mr Scott Perkins - - - - -

Mr Kelly Perkins - - - - -

Mr Robert Swan - - - - -

* Other changes represent performance rights that were forfeited during the year.
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No performance rights held by key management personnel are vested and exercisable, or vested but not exercisable at 30 June 2010 or 2009. No 
additional performance rights were granted to key management personnel during the reporting period as compensation.  Refer to below reconciliation 
of movements in shares for shares that were granted to key management personnel during the reporting period as compensation. 

Further details of performance rights and shares provided as remuneration to each key management person of the Group, together with the terms and 
conditions of the rights, can be found in the remuneration report on pages 14 to19. 

MOVEMENTS IN SHARES

The movement during the reporting period in the number of shares in the Company held, directly, indirectly or beneficially, by each key management 
person, including their related parties, is as follows:

 

2010

Balance 
1 July 2009 Purchases Sales

Net Change 
Other

Balance 
30 June 2010

Directors

Mr Spencer Young1 25,516,951 - (3,000,000) - 22,516,951

Mr Sean McGould2 77,752,335 - - - 77,752,335

Mr FP (Andy) Esteban 8,354 - - - 8,354

Mr John Larum - 36,400 - - 36,400

Mr Michael Shepherd3 - 100,000 - - 100,000

Executives

Mr Craig Mowll - - - - -

Ms Amber Stoney4 700,491 - - 21,0006 721,491

Mr Oscar Martinis 909 - - 47,2506 N/A5

Mr Robert White 117,807 - - 47,2506 N/A5

Mr Jonathan Pain 204,281 - - - N/A5

Mr Scott Perkins 10,848,612 - - 897,4367 11,746,048

Mr Kelly Perkins 17,931,675 - - 1,175,2147 19,106,889

Mr Robert Swan 10,848,612 - - 897,4367 11,746,048

1. 	Shares are held indirectly by Spencer Young as Trustee for the Spencer Young Family Trust.

2. 	77,744,335 shares are held indirectly by SGM Holdings, LLC.

3.  	Shares are held indirectly by Tidala Pty Ltd as Trustee for the Shepherd Provident Fund.

4.  	649,582 shares are held indirectly by AJ Stoney Family Trust.

5.  	No longer Key Management Personnel as at 30 June 2010.

6.  	Being shares issued under the 2008 HFA Performance Rights Plan.

7.  	Being shares issued under the Lighthouse Investment Partners Short Term Incentive Plan for the calendar year ended 31 December 2009.
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2009

Balance 
1 July 2008 Purchases Sales

Net Change 
Other

Balance 
30 June 2009

Directors

Mr Spencer Young1 25,516,951 - - - 25,516,951

Mr Sean McGould2 91,476,460 - - (13,724,125)3 77,752,335

Mr FP (Andy) Esteban 8,354 - - - 8,354

Mr John Larum - - - - -

Mr Brett Howard 450,000 - - - N/A5

Mr Robert Fraser 23,600 - - - N/A5

Executives

Ms Amber Stoney4 650,491 - - 50,0006 700,491

Mr Oscar Martinis 5,501,909 - (5,613,500) 112,5006 909

Mr Robert White 1,110,000 - (1,104,693) 112,5006 117,807

Mr Jonathan Pain 1,014,324 - (872,543) 62,5006 204,281

Mr Rodney Hughes 93,000 - - 50,0006 N/A5

Mr Scott Perkins 10,848,612 - - - 10,848,612

Mr Kelly Perkins 17,931,675 - - - 17,931,675

Mr Robert Swan 10,848,612 - - - 10,848,612

KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL AND DIRECTOR TRANSACTIONS

A number of key management persons of the Group hold positions in other entities that result in them having control or significant influence over the 
financial or operating policies of these entities.

A number of these entities transacted with the Group in the reporting period. The terms and conditions of the transactions with key management 
personnel were no more favourable than those available, or which might reasonably be expected to be available, on similar transactions to non-key 
management personnel related entities on an arm’s length basis.

The aggregate amounts recognised during the year relating to key management personnel and other related parties were as follows:

Signature Capital Investment Limited (“Signature”) (Formerly HFA Accelerator Plus Limited)

Signature Capital Investments Limited is a listed investment company that was managed by Certitude, a wholly owned subsidiary of HFA Holdings 
Limited, until 19 February 2010 pursuant to a management agreement.

During the financial year:

(i)	 The Company purchased no additional shares in Signature. The fair  value of the holding of 561,692 shares as at 30 June 2010 is $190,975 
	 (2009: $84,254)

(ii)	 The Company received dividends of $Nil (2009: $8,425 fully franked) from its shareholding in Signature.

(iii)	 Certitude recognised management and performance fees paid or payable of $759,644 (2009: $6,083,506) from Signature. Amounts receivable 	 
	 from Signature at 30 June 2010 were $460,286 for which payment was received on 9 July 2010 (2009: $1,610,977).

 

1. 	Shares are held indirectly by Spencer Young as Trustee for the Spencer Young Family Trust.

2.  	77,744,335 shares are held indirectly by SGM Holdings, LLC.

3.  	3,819,200 shares were transferred from SGM Holdings, LLC to a minority shareholder of SGM Holdings, LLC in accordance with an agreement between the parties 	and as foreshadowed in the HFA  

	 Rights Issue Prospectus dated 1 November 2007. 9,904,925 shares from SGM Holdings, LLC were transferred to HFA Lighthouse Employees in accordance with the Employee Incentive Plan  

	 established in July 2008. This resulted in the recognition of $12,177,025 of equity settled transaction expense in the consolidated income statement. 

4.  	649,582 shares are held indirectly by AJ Stoney Family Trust.

5.  	No longer Key Management Personnel as at 30 June 2009.

6.  	Being shares issued under the 2008 HFA Performance Rights Plan.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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Certitude Global Investments Limited 

Certitude is a wholly owned subsidiary of the Group and responsible entity of a number of managed investment schemes.

During the financial year Certitude recognised management and performance fees paid or payable of $16,102,818 (2009: $28,413,896) from 
managed investment schemes for which it acts as the Responsible Entity.

Amounts receivable from schemes for which Certitude acts as the Responsible Entity as at 30 June 2010 were $3,018,887 (2009: $4,913,433).

Lighthouse Investment Partners, LLC

Lighthouse Investment Partners, LLC (LIP) is a wholly owned subsidiary of the Group and is a registered investment advisor under the Investment 
Advisors Act of 1940 and operates as general partner and investment manager for the Lighthouse investment products.

During the financial year the following related party transactions occurred:

(i)	 LIP recognised management and performance fees paid or payable of $55,537,514 (2009: $76,715,320) from investment products for 
	 which LIP acts as general partner and investment manager. Amounts receivable from these products at 30 June 2010 were $7,893,217 
	 (2009: $11,109,344).  

(ii)	 LIP holds the following investments in products in which they act as general partner and investment manager:

in AUD
Product

Fair Value
30 June 2010

Fair Value
30 June 2009

Lighthouse Composite Series 218,127 230,303

Lighthouse Global Series 206,724 223,810

Lighthouse Trend Series 212,644 224,188

Lighthouse Healthcare Series 185,723 171,741

Lighthouse Low Volatility Fund QP II, LP 11,436 205,568

Lighthouse Aggressive Growth Fund 151,456 138,945

Lighthouse Enhanced Global Series 49,341 62,545

Lighthouse Credit Opportunities Fund, LP 591,376 520,131

LH Strategies Master Fund SPC LH Enhanced Global Master Segregated Portfolio 98,918 109,774

Lighthouse Enhanced Yield Fund LP - 283,642

Lighthouse Navigator Fund LP 269,824 63,949

LLVF SLV LLC 10,301 -

Lighthouse Credit Compass Series 59,743 -

Lighthouse Prime Series 57,609 -

Lighthouse Global Long Short Fund LP Series B 58,665 -

2,181,887 2,234,596

The above investments are classified as financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss (refer note 12).
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TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES

Sales to and purchases from related parties are made in arms length transactions at both normal market prices and normal commercial terms.

Outstanding balances at year-end are unsecured and settlement occurs in cash.

There have been no guarantees provided or received for any related party receivables.

For the year ended 30 June 2010, the Group has not raised a provision for doubtful debts relating to amounts owed by related parties. An assessment is 
undertaken each financial year of the financial position of the related party and the market in which the related party operates in, and when required, the 
Group raises such a provision.

 

30. GROUP ENTITIES
The Group’s financial statements include the financial statements of HFA Holdings Limited and the subsidiaries listed in the following table:

Name

Country of 
incorporation 

 

% Equity interest

2010 2009

Certitude Global Investments Limited1 Australia 100 100

Admin Pty Ltd2 Australia 100 100

A.C.N 122 776 550 Pty Ltd Australia 100 100

A.C.N 143 806 651 Limited3 Australia 100 -

HFA Lighthouse Holdings Corp United States 100 100

HFA Lighthouse Corp United States 100 100

LHP Investments, LLC United States 100 100

Lighthouse Investment Partners, LLC United States 100 100

Lighthouse Partners NY, LLC United States 100 100

Lighthouse Partners UK, LLC United States 100 100

Lighthouse Partners Limited (HK) Hong Kong 100 100

			 

31. EVENTS AFTER BALANCE SHEET DATE
There has not arisen in the interval between the end of the financial year and the date of this report, any other item, transaction or event of a 
material nature, likely to affect significantly the operations of the Group, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the Group, in 
future financial years. 

1. Formerly HFA Asset Management Limited

2. Formerly HFA Admin Pty Limited

3. Incorporated 21 May 2010

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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For the year ended 30 June 2010 

1.	 In the opinion of the directors of HFA Holdings Limited (the “Company”):

	 (a)	 the consolidated financial statements and notes, and the remuneration report in the directors’ report, set  
	 	 out on pages 13 to 19, are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:

	 	 (i)	 giving a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at 30 June 2010 and of its  
	 	 	 performance for the financial year ended on that date; and

	 	 	 (ii)	 complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including theAustralian Accounting 		  
	 	 	 	 Interpretations) and the Corporations Regulations 2001;  and

	 (b)	 there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they  
	 	 become due and payable.

2.	 The directors have been given the declarations required by Section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001 from  
	 the chief executive officer and chief financial officer for the financial year ended 30 June 2010. 

3.	 The directors draw attention to Note 2(a) to the consolidated financial statements, which includes a  
	 statement of compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors.

Spencer Young			   F P (Andy) Esteban
Chairman / Executive Director /	 	 Non-Executive Director 
Chief Executive Officer

Dated at Sydney this 19th day of August 2010

DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION
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KPMG, an Australian partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of 
independant member firms affiliated with KPMG International, a Swiss cooperative.

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.

 
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE 
MEMBERS OF HFA HOLDINGS LIMITED
 
REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL REPORT

We have audited the accompanying financial report of the Group comprising HFA Holdings Limited (the Company) and the entities it controlled at 
the year’s end or from time to time during the financial year.  The financial report comprises the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 
June 2010, and consolidated income statement, consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and 
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year ended on that date, a description of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes 
1 to 31 and the directors’ declaration.

Directors’ responsibility for the financial report 

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in accordance with Australian Accounting 
Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) and the Corporations Act 2001. This responsibility includes establishing and maintaining 
internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances. In note 2(a), 
the directors also state, in accordance with Australian Accounting Standard AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements, that the financial report of the 
Group, comprising the financial statements and notes, complies with International Financial Reporting Standards. 

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing 
Standards. These Auditing Standards require that we comply with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and perform the 
audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial report is free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial report. The procedures selected 
depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error. 
In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial report  
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report. 

We performed the procedures to assess whether in all material respects the financial report presents fairly, in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 
and Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations), a view which is consistent with our understanding of the 
Company’s and the Group’s financial position and of its performance.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE 
MEMBERS OF HFA HOLDINGS LIMITED
For the year ended 30 June 2010 



H
FA

 H
ol

di
ng

s 
Li

m
it

ed
 2
01
0 
An

nu
al
 F
in
an
cia

l R
ep
or
t

73

Independence

In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001. 

Auditor’s opinion

In our opinion:

(a) 	 the financial report of the Group is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:  

	 (i)	 giving a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at 30 June 2010 and of its performance for the year ended on that date; and 

	 (ii)	 complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including the  Australian Accounting Interpretations) and the Corporations Regulations 2001.

(b)  the financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in note 2(a).

REPORT ON THE REMUNERATION REPORT

We have audited the remuneration report included in Section 5.8 of the directors’ report for the year ended 30 June 2010. The directors of the Company 
are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the remuneration report in accordance with Section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our 
responsibility is to express an opinion on the remuneration report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with auditing standards.

Auditor’s opinion

In our opinion, the remuneration report of HFA Holdings Limited for the year ended 30 June 2010, complies with Section 300A of the Corporations Act 
2001.

KPMG

 

Robert S Jones
Partner

Dated at Brisbane this 19th day of August 2010

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE
MEMBERS OF HFA HOLDINGS LIMITED
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ASX ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

Additional information required by the Australian Securities Exchange Limited Listing Rules is set out below. 

SHAREHOLDINGS (AS AT 20 AUGUST 2010)
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

Sean McGould, his controlled entities and associates had a relevant interest in 77,752,335 shares as at 20 August 2010 which represented 16.56% of 
HFA’s total issued capital.

Spencer Young as trustee for Spencer Young Family Trust and its associates had a relevant interest in 22,516,951 shares as at 20 August 2010, which 
represented 4.79% of HFA’s total issued capital.

UBS AG and its related bodies corporate advised that, as at 5 July 2010, it and its associates had a relevant interest in 38,069,776 shares, which 
represented 8.11% of HFA’s total issued capital.

Bank of America Corporation advised that, as at 9 November 2009, it and its associates had a relevant interest in 46,992,974 shares, which represented 
10.21% of HFA’s total issued capital.

Delaware Street Capital Master Fund, LP advised that, as at 9 February 2010, it and its associates had a relevant interest in 79,476,588 shares, which 
represented 17.26% of HFA’s total issued capital.

 
SECURITIES SUBJECT TO VOLUNTARY ESCROW
There are no securities subject to escrow as at 20 August 2010. 

DISTRIBUTION OF EQUITY SECURITY HOLDERS

Category

Number of equity 
security holders 
ordinary shares

1 – 1,000 164

1,001 – 5,000 704

5,001 – 10,000 605

10,001 – 100,000 1,522

100,001 and over 266

3,261

The number of shareholders holding less than a marketable parcel of ordinary shares is 452.

ON-MARKET BUY-BACK

There is no current on-market buy-back.

 

ASX INFORMATION
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TWENTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS

Name
Number of Ordinary 

Shares held
Percentage of  

capital held

HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited 134,096,170 28.58%

Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited 61,181,202 13.04%

National Nominees Limited 45,701,866 9.74%

ANZ Nominees Limited - Cash Income A/C 26,469,475 5.64%

Spencer Young - Spencer Young Family A/C 22,516,951 4.80%

Buttonwood Nominees Pty Ltd 9,900,000 2.11%

Merrill Lynch (Australia) Nominees Limited 7,922,106 1.69%

J P Morgan Nominees Australia Limited 5,973,221 1.27%

Carrington Land Pty Ltd 5,971,396 1.27%

Mr Shay Shimon Hazan 5,500,000 1.17%

Mr He Zhao 4,785,000 1.02%

UBS Nominees Pty Ltd 4,463,643 0.95%

Woodmont Trust Company Ltd - Leuchturm Foundation A/C 2,970,874 0.63%

UBS Wealth Management Australia Nominees Pty Ltd 1,892,155 0.40%

Queensland Investment Corporation 1,350,770 0.29%

Pan Australian Nominees Pty Ltd 1,343,085 0.29%

Mr Richard James Williams and Ms Jane Clare Dunlop - BSD Super Fund A/C 1,300,000 0.28%

Kewag Investments Pty Ltd 1,232,000 0.26%

Mr David Michael Dwan 1,161,647 0.25%

Ms Guozhen Lu 1,062,000 0.23%

UNQUOTED EQUITY SECURITIES

There are no unquoted equity securities.

VOTING RIGHTS

Ordinary shares

Refer to Note 21 of the financial statements.

ADDITIONAL ASX INFORMATION CONT.
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